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Chairman’s Statement
FEEHREFE

For and on behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), |
would like to present the annual report of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2015.

RESULT ANALYSIS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group encountered difficulties in its operation in 2015.
Following the slowdown of China’'s economic growth, and
the increasingly intense market competition, structural
adjustments in the flexible printed circuits (“FPC") industry
accelerated, resulting in intensified fluctuations and increase in
uncertainties. Significant fluctuation also appeared in customer
orders of the Group. During the year under review, orders
from the major overseas customers of the Group continued
to decrease, but the FPC business still recorded a growth due
to increasing demands from domestic customers. The flexible
packaging substrates business recorded a high operation
loss, mainly due to the significant increase in research and
development (“R&D") expenses and progress for obtaining
certification as qualified supplier was slower than expected.
Further, the Group proactively reduced and adjusted the
electronic components business due to intense competition
in trading business. It is expected that the Group’s operation
results would take a favorable turn as the Group's customer
structure of the FPC business becomes more rational and the
continuous improvement in the utilization rate of equipment
for the flexible packaging substrates business. The management
of the Group is confident in delivering satisfactory results and
provide favourable returns to our shareholders.

The Group's turnover for 2015 was approximately
HK$630,631,000, representing an increase of approximately
1.38% as compared to that of 2014, while the profit
attributable to the owners of the Company was approximately
HK$185,000, representing a decrease of approximately 99.37%
as compared to that of 2014.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

In 2015, following the drastic changes in the market share
of major mobile phone manufacturers, and the increase in
the global share of China’s key mobile phone manufacturers,
substantial fluctuations also occurred to the FPC industry
which heavily relied on the mobile phone market. Following
the Group’s prompt adjustment of its focus on market
exploration, despite the continued decrease in orders from
major foreign customers, due to increasing demands from
domestic customers, turnover of the Group’s core FPC business
still recorded a slight increase. Turnover for the Group's FPC
business increased by approximately 13.41% as compared
to that of 2014, while gross profit margin decreased to
approximately 13.41% from approximately 15.86% in 2014.

In 2015, the flexible packaging substrates production lines
at Phase Il of Suzhou Factory commenced trial production in
the first quarter of 2015, which led to the concentration of
operation of all flexible packaging substrates businesses at
Phase Il of Suzhou Factory. Due to the change of production
location, re-certification as qualified supplier is required by the
existing customers, and the time required for obtaining such
certification as qualified supplier from new customers is longer
than expected. As a result, the development progress of the
flexible packaging substrates business with the production
base wholly shifted to Phase Il of Suzhou Factory was slower
than expected. Further, as the new production lines required
adjustments, product acceptance rate grew at a slower
pace and the benefit of economy of scale had not yet been
achieved, therefore, the drop in profit margin was relatively
huge, resulting in higher operation loss. Turnover for the
Group’s flexible packaging substrates business decreased by
approximately 27.57% as compared to that of 2014, while its
gross profit margin decreased to approximately 7.39% (2014:
approximately 56.64%).
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Chairman’s Statement
FEEHREE

In 2015, facing the slowdown of China’s economic growth and
intense competition in trading business, the Group proactively
reduced and adjusted the trading business of electronic
components in order to minimize the risks of its trading
business. Turnover for the Group’s electronic components
business decreased by approximately 45.54% as compared
to that of 2014, while its gross profit margin decreased to
approximately 6.65% (2014: approximately 9.16%).

In 2015, the Group continued to increase investment in
R&D. The Group researched and developed new materials,
new products and new production techniques for the FPC
and flexible packaging substrates businesses, thus enhanced
the products categories, the technical abilities and the
automatic production standards of the Group. During the
year under review, the R&D expenses of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$70,324,000, representing an increase
of approximately 37.19% as compared to that of 2014. The
“02" major project titled “Development and Industrialization
of Tape High-Density and Ultra-Thin Flexible Packaging
Substrates Technology” (“Project”) under National Science and
Technology Major Project for year 2014 undertaken by the
Group was implemented as scheduled. The Group received a
supplementary grant/subsidy of RMB6,060,000 (approximately
HK$7,510,000) from Jiangsu provincial government in January
2015, and received another supplementary grant/subsidy
of RMB5,817,000 (approximately HK$7,209,000) from the
local government of Gaoxin District in Suzhou City of Jiangsu
Province in December 2015. A total of RMB23,512,000
(approximately HK$29,139,000) government grant/subsidy had
been received by the Group for the Project since its approval in
2014.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

The management of the Group is of the opinion that, in 2016,
following the increase in the global share of China’s key
mobile phone manufacturers, the Group is expected to benefit
from the growth of such customers. Further, following the
stable enhancement in the Group's capability to serve major
international customers, the Group is confident to maintain a
reasonable customer structure through market exploration and
to improve the share of supply to its major customers, thus
maintaining the growth of the FPC business. Following the
normalization of the production and operation of the flexible
packaging substrates business in Phase Il of Suzhou Factory
(including the obtaining of certification as qualified supplier by
Phase Il of Suzhou Factory as required by the Group’s existing
and new customers and the continuous adjustment of the
new production lines), and the foreseeable achievement in the
R&D of the production technologies of the Group’'s flexible
packaging substrates, the production and the sales volume of
the flexible packaging substrates is expected to be gradually
increased, and the operation conditions of such business is
expected to be improved.

The Group will strive to (i) further strengthen its team
construction; (ii) intensify technology development and
improvement in order to uplift key technology capabilities and
increase product yield rate; (iii) enhance production efficiency
through automation transformation; and (iv) uplift production
and manufacturing capability with lean management, thereby
improve the profitability of the Group and provide favorable
returns for its shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEEHREE

APPRECIATION

On 16 February 2015, Mr. Zhao Xiao was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, chairman of the
remuneration committee, a member of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee of the Company.
On 12 March 2015, Mr. Gao Xiaoguang was appointed as
a non-executive Director of the Company. On 17 November
2015, Mr. Gong lJiantang resigned as a non-executive Director
of the Company, and on the same day, Mr. Jia Junan was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company. Further,
upon expiration of his term of office on 3 February 2016, Mr.
Bi Keyun did not seek for renewal of his appointment as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company due to his retirement.

For and on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank Mr. Gong and Mr. Bi for their valuable
contribution to the Company and express our warm welcome
to Mr. Zhao, Mr. Gao and Mr. Jia for joining our company.

In addition, for and on behalf of the Board, | would like to
take this opportunity to thank the management and all staff
members of the Group for their dedication and invaluable
contributions to the Group in the past year. | would also like
to thank our customers, suppliers, business partners and
shareholders for their continuous support to the Group. The
Group will do its best to achieve good results and secure ideal
returns for our shareholders.

AKM Industrial Company Limited
Xiong Zhengfeng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2016
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Directors and Senior Management of the Group

REBEENSREEE

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out below:

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng (B§IFI£)
of the Company and an executive Director. In July 1992,

aged 46, is the chairman

he graduated from the Department of Computer Science
of Nankai University (B K2 ) and obtained his bachelor
degree in science. He then obtained his master degree in
economics from Nankai University School of Economics (
FARZE&LTEERT) in July 1995. Mr. Xiong joined China North
Industries Corporation (R Eldt 77 T A Al) in August 1995
and took up the post of deputy general manager of China
North Industries Xiamen Corporation (F Bt F TZEM A
A]) from October 1999 to November 2000. From April 2003
to January 2011, he was an alternate director of Raymond
Industrial Ltd, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong, and is a non-executive director since
January 2011. In November 2000, Mr. Xiong joined Silver City
International (Holdings) Ltd. (SRERE (£E)EFR A A))
(“Silver City”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, as
assistant General Manager and was promoted to the position
of Deputy General Manager of Silver City in March 2004. He
is also a director of Alpha Luck Industrial Limited (% #| & %
BPBR/AT]), a substantial shareholder of the Company, since
March 2001. Mr. Xiong is also a director of the subsidiaries of
the Group, namely AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd. and
AKM Electronic Technology (Suzhou) Company Limited. Mr.
Xiong joined the Company in March 2001 and is responsible for
the Group's corporate policy formulation, business strategies
planning, business development and management of the
Group. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xiong does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the past three years,
and does not have any other relationship with any directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management of the Group

AEBESKReREEE

Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang (4¥&53), aged 54, is an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company. In
January 1982, he graduated from the Yt fiTE % (Faculty
of Laser Technology) of K& X ZRBEMMZER (Changchun
Institute of Optics and Fine Mechanics) and obtained his
bachelor degree in engineering. He then obtained his # % &
£ (Certificate on continuing education) from the & RE
LT (Hong Kong Sino-Australia Management College) in
June 2001. From February 1982 to September 1992, Mr. Chai
was employed by the JT# % 15 /I TH BB ¥ & 82 (Shuguang
Appliances Factory of Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province) as
engineer and branch-factory manager. He then joined if
F(EMNETEREXAR2AA (Alpha Luck Electronic &
Electric Appliance Industrial (Guangzhou) Ltd.) in October
1992 as project manager. In January 1994, Mr. Chai joined
the Company and is responsible for research and development
and overall management of the Group. Mr. Chai has over 23
years of experience in the flexible printed circuit production
industry. Mr. Chai is a director of the subsidiaries of the Group,
namely, AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd., AKM Electronic
Technology (Suzhou) Company Limited and New Career
Guangzhou Electronics Company Limited. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Chai does not hold any directorship in other listed
companies in the past three years, and does not have any other
relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders, or controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management of the Group

REBEENSREEE

Non-executive Director

Ms. Li Ying Hong (ZEBRAL) ,
executive Director on 10 June 2003 and was re-designated

aged 52, was appointed as an

as a non-executive Director since 5 September 2014. In July
1985, Ms.
finance and accounting from ST PEE4E B3 (Jiangxi College

Li obtained her bachelor degree in corporate

of Finance). In May 2003, she obtained her master degree in
international management from Australia National University.
During the period from August 1985 to February 2003,
Ms. Li was employed as, amongst other roles, deputy chief
accountant, deputy general manager and chief accountant
of China Wanbao Engineering Corporation ((fEEE L2 A
A)) . From March 2001 to April 2003, she was a director for
Norinco International Cooperation Company Limited ( it 75 B1[%
A1ER AR ATF]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange in China. She is a non-executive director of Raymond
Industrial Ltd. (a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong) since July 2008. In June 2003, Ms. Li
joined Silver City International (Holdings) Ltd (“Silver City"), a
substantial shareholder of the Company, as a director, deputy
general manager and financial controller, and ceased to be
the financial controller of Silver City since January 2016. At
the same time, she joined the Company and is responsible for
the Group's corporate policy formulation, business strategies
planning, business development and management of the
Group. Ms. Li is a director of the subsidiaries of the Group,
namely, AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd. and AKM
Electronic Technology (Suzhou) Company Limited. Save as
disclosed above, Ms. Li does not hold any directorship in other
listed companies in the past three years, and does not have
any other relationship with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the
Company.
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Directors and Senior Management of the Group

AEBESKReREEE

Mr. Gao Xiaoguang (S8} ), aged 40, is currently Deputy
General Manager of GoerTek Inc. (“GoerTek”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Gao graduated from
Shandong Institute of Technology (I & T2 ZE) in July 1998
and obtained his master degree in business administration from
Southern Cross University in 2006. Mr. Gao joined GoerTek
in 2001. Mr. Gao was appointed as non-executive Director of
the Company on 12 March 2015. Mr. Gao does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the past three years,
and does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Jia Junan (EE %), aged 45, is currently vice general
manager of and secretary to the board of directors of GoerTek.
He graduated from Shandong Institute of Finance and
Economics (LI EABEERR ) in July 1993 with a bachelor degree
in economics and obtained his master degree in economics
from Shandong University (LIE X2 ) in 2003. Mr. Jia obtained
a doctorate degree in economics in 2008 from Xiamen
University (JEPIRK28) . He is a member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Chinese
Mr. Jia obtained a
qualification certificate for secretary to board of directors (&
FEEMELRFE) issued by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
in 2013. Mr. Jia was previously manager of tax department
of KPMG China, Tsingdao office, and he joined GoerTek in
2010. Mr. Jia was appointed as a non-executive Director of the

Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Company on 17 November 2015. Mr. Jia does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the past three years,
and does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management of the Group

REBEENSREEE

Mr. Gong Jiantang (E R &) , aged 42, was previously Senior
Deputy General Manager of GoerTek. Mr. Gong obtained
a master degree in business management from Tsinghua
University (;EZ K &) in 2004 and a bachelor degree in
engineering from Harbin Institute of Technology (#4 f8/& T %
KE)in 1996. Mr. Gong was previously the technical manager
of Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd GRINFE AT ER A F)
and supervisor engineer of FAW-Daewoo (Yantai) Automotive
Engines Co., Ltd. (—/A—AF (&) RBEHKBRAF) .
Mr. Gong joined GoerTek in 2004 and has been a director of
GoerTek (which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange)
since 28 July 2010. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Gong does
not hold any directorship in other listed companies in the
past three years, and does not have any relationship with any
other directors, senior management, substantial shareholders,
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Gong was
appointed as non-executive Director on 27 January 2014, and
had resigned from his directorship in the Company with effect
from 17 November 2015 (Relevant disclosure in relation to Mr.
Gong's resignation had been made in the announcement of the
Company dated 17 November 2015).

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew (#&3&) , aged 47, is currently
the director of Norton Rowland CPA Limited. He received his
professional training in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and had
worked for UBS Investment Bank as business unit controller for
seven years. Mr. Hung was awarded the degree of Bachelor of
Arts in Accountancy by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(formerly known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic) and the degree
of Master of Applied Finance by the University of Western
Sydney. Mr. Hung is a practicing Certified Public Accountant,
an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a fellow member of The Chartered
Mr. Hung is also an
independent non-executive director of FDG Kinetic Limited
(formerly known as CIAM Group Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 1 July 2008. Mr.
Hung was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
since 17 October 2011. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Hung does
not hold any directorship in other listed companies in the past
three years, and does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders, or
controlling shareholders of the Company.

Association of Certified Accountants.
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Directors and Senior Management of the Group

REBESKReREEE

Mr. Zhao Xiao (# ), aged 49, is currently the chief
economist of Cypress Leadership Institute ( & A48 & 1) #
7). He graduated from Shandong University (IUE AKZ) in
July 1989 with a bachelor degree in economics and obtained
a master degree in economics in July 1995 from Institute of
Economic Research of Nankai University (7 B K 2245 7% #f
ZEFT) . Mr. Zhao obtained a doctorate degree in economics
in 1999 from Guanghua School of Management of Beijing
University (JE R KEHZEEFIR L) . Mr. Zhao is an expert
committee member of FEIEMEXHEEXEETIZHER
¥Z B2 (transliteration “Committee of Industry and Market
Research of the China Real Estate Association”). He is also a
special research fellow of China Society of Economic Reform
(PRGBSI NERETS) .
and doctoral supervisor of University of Science and Technology
Beijing (1t &K &) . Further, he had previously worked
for the former State Economic and Trade Commission Research
Centre (ARG EZ A L) and was head of Department
of Macro Strategy, Research Centre of State-owned Assets

He was previously a professor

Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council (BBl &EZH R L EBEME) . Mr. Zhao is
also an independent director of Wanda Cinema Line Co.,
Ltd (BESERAREMHAERAF) (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 2739), since 30
November 2012. Mr. Zhao was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 16 February 2015. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Zhao does not hold any directorship in other listed
companies in the past three years, and does not have any
relationship with any other directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the
Company.
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Directors and Senior Management of the Group

REBEENSREEE

Mr. Bi Keyun (2% &), aged 77, is a fellow of Chinese
Institute of Electronics (FFE & T2
Electronic Manufacturing & Packaging Technology Society of
the Chinese Institute of Electronics (1B % F £ & & + 4
EHE RS E) . He is also the vice president of China
Semiconductor Industry Association (FEI}BEITE RS ).
Mr. Bi graduated from University of Science and Technology
of China (FERE#H T AXE)in 1963 and obtained the
qualification of senior engineer (researcher level) from the
former FEARLMEE F I 23 (Ministry of Electronic
Industry).

& ) and president of

Mr. Bi has accumulated substantial experience in
the research and development of semiconductor technology
and has been chairman of the International Conference on
Electronic Packaging Technology & High Density Package
since 1994. Mr. Bi was an independent director of Ningbo
Kanggiang Electronics Co., Ltd. (Z)ERBEFRHDBMRAF]),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, during the
period from October 2008 to December 2014. He was also an
independent director of Tianshui Huatian Technology Co., Ltd.
(RKEXBERM AR AR (“Tianshui Huatian”), another
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, during the
period from 2003 to 2010, and was appointed as independent
director of Tianshui Huatian again since 29 May 2013. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Bi does not hold any directorship in other
listed companies in the past three years, and does not have
any relationship with any other directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Bi was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 4 February 2013 and his term of
appointment had expired on 3 February 2016, and Mr. Bi did
not seek for renewal of his term of office due to his retirement.
(Relevant disclosure in relation to Mr. Bi's retirement had been
made in the announcement of the Company dated 3 February
2016).

BRAKE RFT7TR RTBEETEeg

&EPIEE¥ SEFHERHERMO SRS
EAMRTEFERTEHERESR -2

ﬁiE—ﬂA:¢$%%$lﬂ$&mﬁ§'
YRPEARANBREFIEXIRSSRLT
RENER (MRER) - REERFEEBPM
RERTHRBEELR WA — ﬂﬂ@ii
SHECEFHERMASEEHE
Eﬁ'$%$§_77ﬂﬁ+ﬂz_i EE
TZAHBEERRIB SR B LM ER
FRETHRNARARNBILES- &ﬁ\77
FoFE_T-TFEHRBEENRINNES
AT E B ROKERB BN AR QE ( Fiﬂ@E
RWBYEE Y - FT-—=FFEA-1+h
FEBREEZERRKERNBIYUES KL
XEREEN BRERBE=ZFRLEREM
ERRAREEEAESRA R EERAQ T
EOES SAEEE TERRIEBBRE
BEEMEMEER- EXEB -_T—=F_AN
REEZERBIYIINTES HEHER =
TE-RNF_A=ZHEmR MBAEEERKLIS
*LEN%@%%%MW$EEF:§—ﬁ¢
“AZAZARBRMTAEE) -

0N Ly 2
= E >

Annual Report 2015 —ZE—HEFHR \ 15




Directors and Senior Management of the Group

REBEERSREEE

COMPANY SECRETARY NEIWE

Ms. Hung Ching Yuen (G£## i), aged 36, is the company EBELZ T BE36H HARNRRRAME-
secretary of the Company. Ms. Hung graduated from the HLZTEERBEEFRE IR -_TT—FK_-F
University of Hong Kong and obtained her Bachelor of Laws ZT_FnplELASBELEN R ABEEZTE.
degree and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in 2001 and 2002 HR - ZTE=FEKAALE 7 A2E L+ 2
respectively. She obtained her Master of Laws degree from fIeftZ+ B -TTXNFRABBHERAM I
University College London in 2003. Ms Hung is a solicitor RZ-Z——F XA+ =ZAEZTARRIME-
practicing in Hong Kong since 2006 and was appointed as the

company secretary on 13 June 2011.

16 /o AKM Industrial Company Limited ZERBZERAF




Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the turnover of the
Group was approximately HK$630,631,000,
increase of approximately 1.38% as compared to the turnover

representing an

of last year. The increase in turnover was mainly due to the
increase in sales of FPC. As the gross profit margins for each
of the sales of FPC, sales of flexible packaging substrates and
the business of sourcing and sales of electronic components
decreased, the gross profit margin for the year decreased to
approximately 12.57% (2014: 17.14%).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company in 2015 was
approximately HK$185,000, while profit attributable to owners
of the Company in 2014 was approximately HK$29,559,000,
The
significant decrease in profit was mainly due to several reasons.

representing a decrease of approximately 99.37%.

Firstly, the flexible packaging substrates production lines at
Phase Il of Suzhou Factory commenced trial production in
the first quarter of 2015, which led to the concentration of
operation of all flexible packaging substrates businesses at
Phase Il of Suzhou Factory. Due to the change of production
location, re-certification as qualified supplier is required by the
existing customers, and the time required for obtaining such
certification as qualified supplier from new customers is longer
than expected. As a result, the development progress of the
flexible packaging substrates business with the production
base wholly shifted to Phase Il of Suzhou Factory was slower
than expected. Further, as the new production lines required
adjustments, product acceptance rate grew at a slower
pace and the benefit of economy of scale had not yet been
achieved, therefore, the drop in profit margin was relatively
huge, resulting in higher operation loss. Secondly, there was
significant increase in research and development expenses
for the development of new products and new production
techniques, as well as the testing and trial production of the
flexible packaging substrates production lines at Phase Il of
Suzhou Factory. Thirdly, there was decrease in average selling
price of major products of the Group due to changing market
conditions, resulting in a relatively material decrease in gross
profit margin.

BF %5 O R

HE-_T—AF+A=+—HILFE K&
B ¥ 54 5630,631,0008 BREFE 24
EREIENN138% LEBLEATERATE
BREIRZEE LA - ARTHESERREE
ZHHEERHEE BT TRGEBRHEEE
BEFRHBB TR RERNEFNETREL
12.57% (ZF—MF :17.14% ) °

RARHER AR ZZE—AFHF% 4185,000
B ZE—NFEARAEEABGENNA
29,559,000/ 7T * N FF#999.37% ° & Fl K @ &
LEZHARHERE E— HMNIW-_BF
MHREEREESGN _T—AFE—FMHEA
E FUERNREREHEBERINHMNIK=
HgrT REEMEEE BAERFPREEEME
TEEARHEERRE BFEPEGEEBH
ERREMENEITRERER - AEEHE
REPEHRN IR -SRI EERES
EET@%%o%%-I%i%?ﬁﬁﬁA =3
MEBEREARIE  EBRELERE  SHE
ﬂ%?h@@ﬁx'ﬁﬁﬁxmﬁgﬁo“:«
ARFER FEEIEMBERHMNIE -

e g RW$FﬁﬂW&WFzﬁ%§%ﬁ

RigMeFE= AMBSRBEFECEREBETEE
mZFHEEBE TR EXNENEZEHERT
[ o

Annual Report 2015 —ZE—HEFHR \ 17




Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWR DM

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the other income
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$36,321,000,
representing an increase of approximately 27.48% as compared
to that of last year. The increase in the other income was
mainly contributed by the supplementary grant/subsidy for
Major Project under National Science and Technology Major
Project (B Bl E A EH ) of RMB11,877,000 in aggregate
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,719,000) received by
the Group from Jiangsu provincial government and the local
government of Gaoxin District in Suzhou City of Jiangsu
Province in 2015, and the increase in other government
subsidies compared to that of last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the distribution costs
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$16,360,000,
representing a slight decrease of approximately 4.82% as
compared to that of last year. The decrease in distribution costs
was mainly attributed to the decrease in allowance for bad
debts in the year under review as compared to that of last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the administrative
expenses of the Group were approximately HK$25,234,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 19.19% as compared
to that of last year. The decrease in administrative expenses
was mainly due to the one-off costs incurred in 2014 for the
transfer of the listing of the Company from GEM to the Main
Board not being incurred during the year under review.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the research
and development expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$70,324,000, representing an increase
of approximately 37.19% as compared to that of last year.
The increase in research and development expenses was
mainly attributed to the significant increase in research and
development expenses for development of new products and
new production techniques, as well as the testing and trial
production of the flexible packaging substrates production lines
at Phase Il of Suzhou Factory.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the finance cost of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$3,598,000, representing
an increase of approximately 12.23% as compared to that of
last year. The increase in finance cost was mainly due to the
increase in bank borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale
of FPC, which are mainly used for communication, LCD and
consumer electronic products (such as mobile phone, liquid
crystal display module, automobile electronics and camera). The
Group is also engaged in the sourcing and sale of electronic
components, and the manufacture and sale of flexible
packaging substrates.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the turnover of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$630,631,000,
representing an increase of approximately 1.38% as
compared to that of 2014. During the year under review,
the turnover of the Group for the sales of FPC, the sourcing
and sales of electronic components, and the sales of flexible
packaging substrates were approximately HK$548,959,000,
HK$55,403,000 and HK$26,269,000 respectively, while the
turnover for sales of FPC, the sourcing and sales of electronic
components and the sales of flexible packaging substrates
for the year ended 31 December 2014 were approximately
HK$484,065,000, HK$101,725,000 and HK$36,267,000
respectively. In 2015, the profit attributable to the owners
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$185,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 99.37% as compared
to that of 2014. The significant decrease in profit was mainly
due to several reasons. Firstly, the flexible packaging substrates
production lines at Phase Il of Suzhou Factory commenced
trial production in the first quarter of 2015, which led to the
concentration of operation of all flexible packaging substrates
businesses at Phase Il of Suzhou Factory. Due to the change
of production location, re-certification as qualified supplier
is required by the existing customers, and the time required
for obtaining such certification as qualified supplier from
new customers is longer than expected. As a result, the
development progress of the flexible packaging substrates
business with the production base wholly shifted to Phase Il
of Suzhou Factory was slower than expected. Further, as the
new production lines required adjustments, product acceptance
rate grew at a slower pace and the benefit of economy of
scale had not yet been achieved, therefore, the drop in profit
margin was relatively huge, resulting in higher operation
loss. Secondly, there was significant increase in research and
development expenses for the development of new products
and new production techniques, as well as the testing and
trial production of the flexible packaging substrates production
lines at Phase Il of Suzhou Factory. Thirdly, there was decrease
in average selling price of major products of the Group due to
changing market conditions, resulting in a relatively material
decrease in gross profit margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWR DM

During the year under review, the turnover for the sales of FPC
business of the Group increased by approximately 13.41% as
compared to that of last year, while its gross sales profit margin
decreased to approximately 13.41% (2014: approximately
15.86%). The turnover for the sourcing of electronic
components business decreased by approximately 45.54% as
compared to that of last year, while its gross profit margin
decreased to approximately 6.65% (2014: approximately
9.16%). The turnover for the flexible packaging substrates
business decreased by approximately 27.57% as compared
to that of last year, while its gross profit margin decreased to
approximately 7.39% (2014: approximately 56.64%).

During the year under review, the Group recorded a slight
increase in its turnover which was attributed to the increase of
the turnover of the Group's core FPC business due to increasing
demands from domestic customers, despite of the continued
decrease in orders from major foreign customers.

During the year under review, facing the slowdown of China’s
economic growth and intense competition in trading business,
the Group proactively reduced and adjusted the trading
business of electronic components in order to minimize the
risks of its trading business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

During the year under review, the Group continued to increase
investment in research and development. The research
and development expenses increased to approximately
HK$70,324,000, representing an increase of approximately
37.19% as compared to that of last year. Research and
development expenses of the Group were mainly incurred
for supporting the development of National Science and
Technology Major Project, recruiting domestic and foreign
technical experts, developing new materials, new products
and new production techniques for FPC and flexible
packaging substrates, and enhancing equipment automation
transformation. During the year under review, the “02" major
project titled "Development and Industrialization of Tape
High-Density and Ultra-Thin Flexible Packaging Substrates
Technology” under National Science and Technology Major
Project for 2014 ("Project”) undertaken by the Group
was implemented as scheduled. The Group received a
supplementary grant/subsidy of RMB6,060,000 (approximately
HK$7,510,000) from Jiangsu provincial government in January
2015, and received another supplementary grant/subsidy
of RMB5,817,000 (approximately HK$7,209,000) from the
local government of Gaoxin District in Suzhou City of Jiangsu
Province in December 2015. A total of RMB23,512,000
(approximately HK$29,139,000) government grant/subsidy had
been received by the Group for the Project since its approval
in 2014. The Group expanded its technical team and uplifted
its technological development standard through recruitment of
talents. The Group researched and developed new materials,
new products and new production techniques for the FPC and
flexible packaging substrates businesses, thus enhanced the
products categories, the technical abilities and the automatic
production standards of the Group. The management believes
that the research and development capabilities of the Group's
FPC and flexible packaging substrates has been improved
significantly, laying a good foundation for the subsequent
development of the Groups.

During the year under review, the establishment of the Group's
new information management system had been basically
completed. Guangzhou Factory and Suzhou Factory began
to share information, resources and production data on a
unified platform. The Group achieved initial success in unifying
production and operation management. The Group targets
to strengthen its internal management and internal control
construction through an advanced information management
system.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

OUTLOOK

The Group is determined to strengthen its core competence
and to achieve the Group’s profitability goal, thereby
creating greater value for its shareholders, employees and
the community. It is the Group’s mission to become a major
international supplier of FPC, flexible packaging substrates and
electronic components, and to become an industry leader in the
PRC. To this end, the Group will further expand the businesses
of FPC and electronic components, and enhance its capability
to provide “one-stop services” to its customers. The Group will
also explore high-value-added flexible packaging substrates
business, in order to improve its core competitiveness and to
better serve the rapidly-growing electronic industry.

The Group has become an authorised supplier for a number
of world-renowned electronic manufacturers. In order to meet
the requirements of the supply chain system of such customers,
the Group has established two production bases: Southern
China Guangzhou Factory and Eastern China Suzhou Factory.
With the gradual uplift of production capability and scale,
the Group’s capability to satisfy the “one-stop demand” of
such customers is also largely improved. In 2016, following
the increase in the global share of China’s key mobile phone
manufacturers, the Group is expected to benefit from the
growth of such customers, and the growth of the FPC business
is also expected to be maintained. Further, following the
stable enhancement in the Group's capability to serve major
international customers, the Group is confident to maintain a
reasonable customer structure through market exploration and
to improve the share of supply to its major customers, thus
maintaining the growth of the FPC business. Following the
normalization of the production and operation of the flexible
packaging substrates business in Phase Il of Suzhou Factory
(including the obtaining of certification as qualified supplier by
Phase Il of Suzhou Factory as required by the Group’s existing
and new customers and the continuous adjustment of the
new production lines), and the foreseeable achievement in
the research and development of the production technologies
of the Group's flexible packaging substrates, the production
and the sales volume of the flexible packaging substrates
is expected to be gradually increased, and the operation
conditions of such business is expected to be improved.
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Looking ahead, the Group will strive to (i) further strengthen
its team construction; (ii) intensify technology development and
improvement in order to uplift key technology capabilities and
increase product yield rate; (iii) enhance production efficiency
through automation transformation; and (iv) uplift production
and manufacturing capability with lean management, thereby
improve the profitability of the Group and provide favorable
returns for its shareholders.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed its operations primarily with internally
generated funds from operating activities and existing bank
facilities. It is anticipated that the Group has sufficient working
capital to meet its present funding requirements. As at 31
December 2015, the outstanding loan balance for the Group
was approximately HK$126,266,000.

EMPLOYEE

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a total of 2,023
full-time employees based in Hong Kong and China (2014:
1,817 employees). For the year ended 31 December 2015,
the total labor costs (including Director’'s remuneration) for
the Group amounted to approximately HK$171,925,000
(2014: HK$117,200,000). The Group determines and reviews
the remunerations of its Directors and employees based on
their respective qualifications, experiences, performances
and the market rates, so as to maintain the remuneration
of the Directors and employees at a competitive level.
The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement plans and insurance schemes in compliance with
the statutory obligations under the laws and regulations of
China and Hong Kong. The Directors believe that being one
of the most important assets of the Group, employees are
important contributors to the success of the Group. The Group
appreciates the importance of staff training, therefore, regular
trainings are provided to the employees to enhance their
technical and product knowledge. The majority of the Group's
employees are stationed in China.
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MATERIAL INVESTMENT

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
material investments during the year ended 31 December 2015.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since 31
December 2015 and up to the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2015.

FUTURE PLANS RELATING TO MATERIAL
INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
future plans for material investment or capital asset as at 31
December 2015.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2015, bank deposits of approximately
HK$2,356,000 (as at 31 December 2014: approximately
HK$2,356,000) of the Group were pledged as collateral to
secure bank facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2015, land use rights and buildings
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$18,401,000
and HK$56,176,000 respectively (as at 31 December 2014:
approximately HK$19,698,000 and HK$60,324,000) were
pledged to secure the general bank facilities granted to the
Group.

As at 31 December 2015, machinery and equipment with
carrying amount of approximately HK$24,139,000 (as at 31
December 2014: approximately HK$59,061,000) was pledged
to secure the general bank facilities granted to the Group.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2015.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2015, the net cash and cash equivalents
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$32,851,000.
As at 31 December 2015, the gearing ratio of the Group
December 2014:
approximately 35.45%), which was calculated based on the
Group's total liabilities of approximately HK$336,353,000 (as
at 31 December 2014: HK$286,131,000) and the Group's total
assets of approximately HK$831,541,000 (as at 31 December
2014: HK$807,150,000).

was approximately 40.45% (as at 31

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly
denominated in US dollars and RMB, while the assets and
liabilities of the Group are denominated in HK dollars and RMB.
The Group is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from currency exposures, primarily with respect to US dollars
and RMB. The operating results and the financial position of
the Group may be affected by any changes in the exchange
rates, the Group has not taken any hedging measures in this
regard. Furthermore, the conversion of RMB denominated
balances into foreign currencies is subject to the foreign
exchange control rules and regulations promulgated by the
Chinese government. However, taking into account the Group's
current operation and capital requirements, the Directors do
not consider the Group as a subject to any material foreign
exchange risk.
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DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

CLOSURE OF SHARE REGISTER FOR ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

Persons who hold shares of the Company and whose names
appear on the Register of Members of the Company as
at 4 May 2016 shall be entitled to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting (“AGM"), which is to be held on 10
May 2016. To be qualified to attend the AGM, all properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar
and transfer office, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong by no
later than 4:30 p.m. on 3 May 2016. The Register of Members
of the Company will be closed from 4 May 2016 to 10 May
2016 (both days inclusive) for the purposes of the AGM during
which no transfer of shares will be effected.
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INTRODUCTION

Subject to the deviation as disclosed in this report, the
Company has complied with all the code provisions set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (collectively “Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules by establishing
formal and transparent procedures to protect and maximize the
interests of shareholders during the year under review.

As Mr. Bi Keyun did not seek for renewal of his appointment
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of the
audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee
upon the expiry of his term on 3 February 2016, the number
of independent non-executive Directors and the number of
members of the audit committee of the Company fall below
the minimum number required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21
of the Listing Rules respectively since 4 February 2016. Further,
the requirement that the remuneration committee should
comprise a majority of independent non-executive Directors
under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules could not be complied
with since 4 February 2016. The Company is in the course of
identifying an appropriate candidate to fill the vacancies as
soon as possible and in any event such vacancies shall be filled
within three months from 4 February 2016 pursuant to Rules
3.11, 3.23 and 3.27 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less favorable
than the standard of dealings as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Model Code of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
on all Directors, it is confirmed that the Directors have complied
with such code of conduct and the standard of dealings
regarding securities transactions throughout the year ended 31
December 2015.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETING

During the year under review, the Board consisted of 2
executive Directors and 6 non-executive Directors of which 3
were independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng (Chairman)
Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Li Ying Hong
Mr. Gao Xiaoguang (appointed on 12 March 2015)
Mr. Jia Junan
(appointed on 17 November 2015)
Mr. Gong Jiantang (resigned on 17 November 2015)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew

Mr. Zhao Xiao (appointed on 16 February 2015)
Mr. Bi Keyun (retired on 3 February 2016)

The Board is responsible for the Group’s corporate policy
formulation, business strategy planning, business development,
risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital
transactions, and other significant operational and financial
matters. Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board to the management include the preparation of
annual and interim accounts for the Board’s approval before
reporting to the public, execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate
systems of internal control and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements, rules
and regulations. During the year under review, the Board and
its audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee have performed corporate governance duties in
accordance with the functions set out in the Code Provision
D.3.1.
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Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the chairman and
other Directors of the Company are set out on pages 9 to 15 of
this annual report. All Directors have given sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Each executive Director
has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out
his duties effectively and efficiently. There is no relationship
among the members of the Board.

During the year under review, the Company appointed one
independent non-executive Director and two non-executive
Directors. All appointed directors have appropriate and
sufficient experience and qualification to carry out their duties
to protect the interests of shareholders. Mr. Zhao Xiao was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 16 February 2015 for a term of three years. Mr.
Gao Xiaoguang was appointed as a non-executive director
since 12 March 2015 for a term of three years. Mr. Jia Junan
was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 17
November 2015 for a term of three years. Mr. Hung Chi Yuen
Andrew, Mr. Zhao Xiao and Mr. Bi Keyun are independent non-
executive directors. Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew was appointed
from 17 October 2011 and renewed his appointment for a term
of three years commenced from 17 October 2014. Mr. Zhao
Xiao was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
for a term of three years commenced from 16 February 2015.
Mr. Bi Keyun was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director for a term of three years commenced from 4 February
2013. Mr. Bi Keyun did not seek for renewal of his term of
office as an independent non-executive Director upon the
expiry of his term on 3 February 2016 due to his retirement. All
of them are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

Under the Code Provision A.4.2, every director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company
has received written confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director confirming his independence to the
Company. Based on such confirmations of independence, the
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.
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During the year under review, Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng was
the chairman and Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang was the chief executive
officer.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer were
segregated and were not exercised by the same individual
during the year under review. The chairman’s responsibility was
to manage the Board while the chief executive officer's was to
manage the business of the Company.
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The Board held a full board meeting each quarter. EEg8EFHE 2EKBEIFEE-
Details of the attendance of the meetings of the members of ZEEFEXEELBEFEANHFESTS SR 2L
the Board during the year under review are as follows: BREFIBaT
Attendance
Directors =} HEIRE
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng AR IF I 5 A4 4/4
Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang LebmR A 4/4
Ms. Li Ying Hong TRRAT 22+ 4/4
Mr. Gao Xiaoguang (appointed on 12 March 2015) &YX k4L (R-_ZT—RHF 4/4
ZRA+-REEE)
Mr. Jia Junan (appointed on 17 November 2015) BEFLTAE (R_E—HHF 1/4
+T—A+tEREZMT)
Mr. Gong Jiantang (resigned on 17 November 2015) EBRE%X4E (R -_ZE—AF 3/4
+T—A+EBET)
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEERLE 4/4
Mr. Zhao Xiao (appointed on 16 February 2015) HELAE (R —0HF=H 4/4
TARABEZA)
Mr. Bi Keyun (retired on 3 February 2016) ErakdE (R_ZE—RF 4/4
—AZHEM)
Apart from the above regular board meetings of the year, the R EMFATHEETT TR EFTHEH

members of the Board will meet on other occasions when a
board-level decision on a particular matter is required. The
Directors will receive agenda and details of items for decision in
advance of each board meeting.
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CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

During the year under review, the Company engaged a
professional training institution to provide all directors with
relevant training on latest information in relation to the Listing
Rules, the Companies Ordinance, management of investors’
relations and public relations crisis management. Other than
Mr. Jia Junan who was appointed on 17 November 2015,
all Directors had complied with the requirements set out in
the Code Provision A.6.5 by participating in the continuous
professional development, developing and refreshing their
knowledge and skills, in order to ensure that their contribution
to the Board would remain informed and relevant.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of
the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee
are to review and supervise the financial reporting process,
risk management and internal control system of the Group
and provide advice and comments on the Company’s draft
of annual reports and accounts and half-year reports. During
the year under review, the audit committee comprised of
three members, namely Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew, Mr. Bi
Keyun and Mr. Zhao Xiao. All of them were independent non-
executive Director. The chairman of the audit committee was
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew. As the term of office of Mr.
Bi Keyun expired on 3 February 2016 and he did not seek
for renewal of his appointment as a member of the audit
committee with effect from 4 February 2016, the number
of members of the audit committee fall below the minimum
number required under Rules 3.21 of the Listing Rules since 4
February 2016. The Company is in the course of identifying an
appropriate candidate to fill the vacancy as soon as possible
and in any event within three months from 4 February 2016.
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During the year under review, 4 meetings were held by the
audit committee. Details of the attendance of the audit
committee meetings are as follows:

ERZZEE@ROBEFEARITOREZ B
ZEggERCHEREFBOT

= PN
BHEE

Attendance
Directors 2= R E
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEEEAE 4/4
Mr. Zhao Xiao (appointed on 16 February 2015) HEXE (RZE—hHF 4/4
—A ‘l'/\EIZ%?E)
Mr. Bi Keyun (retired on 3 February 2016) EptE (RZT—RF 4/4
ZA=HIRME)

The Group’s unaudited interim results and audited annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2015 were reviewed
by the audit committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosure were made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established in August
2005 with written terms of reference. During the year under
review, Mr. Zhao Xiao, an independent non-executive director,
was the chairman of the committee. Other members of the
remuneration committee included Ms. Li Ying Hong and Mr.
Bi Keyun. Accordingly, the majority of the members were
independent non-executive directors. As the term of office
of Mr. Bi Keyun expired on 3 February 2016 and he did not
seek for renewal of his appointment as a member of the
remuneration committee with effect from 4 February 2016,
the requirement that the remuneration committee should
comprise a majority of independent non-executive Directors
under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules could not be met since 4
February 2016. The Company is in the course of identifying an
appropriate candidate to fill the vacancy as soon as possible
and in any event such vacancy shall be filled within three
months from 4 February 2016.
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The role and function of the remuneration committee included
the determination of the specific remuneration packages of
all executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, such as any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and the provision of recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors. The remuneration
committee should consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group and feasibility of performance-based remuneration.

During the year under review, two meetings were held by the
remuneration committee. Details of the attendance of the
remuneration committee meeting are as follows:

PR E e R EREEERITES 2R
EFHMES mEDNE RN REE B
BRI ARME URRIERTES ZH M
MEFERARZ - FHZESRERZEE
AEeE: JELRARMNES EFMRE
REIEE ANEERERGRERERRENR
il PACIES R

REBFER FMHEZESABITMAEE &
EHEFHEEeeR ZRBHBUT:

Attendance
Directors -} R E
Mr. Zhao Xiao (appointed on 16 February 2015) HEEE (RZE—h1F 2/2
ZRATRAEZE)
Ms. Li Ying Hong AT 2t 2/2
Mr. Bi Keyun (retired on 3 February 2016) Bt (RZTE—RF 2/2
—AZHIEM)

The remuneration committee of the Company has considered
and reviewed the existing terms of employment contracts of
the executive Directors and those of appointment letters of
the independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration
committee of the Company considers that the existing terms
of employment contracts of the executive Directors and
appointment letters of the independent non-executive Directors
are fair and reasonable.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established on 22 March 2012
with written terms of reference. During the year under review,
the chairman of the committee was Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng.
Other members included Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew and Mr.
Zhao Xiao. Mr. Zhao Xiao was appointed as a member of the
committee on 16 February 2015. Accordingly, the majority of
the members were independent non-executive Directors.

ARRHHEARCZERENATES 2R
WANRBYHATEEZ EARM2RE K
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The nomination committee shall review the structure, size
and composition of the Board (including skills, knowledge,
experience, past performance and qualification, etc.) and assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
the adequacy of Corporate Governance Code. The committee
is responsible for formulating nomination policy, identifying
candidates for Directors and making recommendations to
the Board in respect of the nomination, appointment or
reappointment of Directors and succession plan of Directors.

The Company acknowledges that the diversification of the
members of the Board has positive effects on enhancing the
Group’s performance. The Company sees the diversification
of the members of the Board as an important supporting
factor for the Group to achieve its strategic goal and maintain
sustainable growth. In deciding the composition of the Board,
the Company will consider the Board diversity from various
perspectives, including but not limited to sex, age, cultural
and academic background, race, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and terms of services. All of our Directors

RAZESGFRIEFTSNHRE  ABRMEK
(BEEE A# &R TEREESETH) X
B FATER 2B UERBRERER
SAlZ RN YEEHFTIRERELYEE
ENE REZZRSA ZEAEHZEURE
FECHENESSIFLERES-

ARBPAEZTEXNBRZTCHREARTNER
RELEaRZ - ARAGEFERERRES
TEAXFREINSREEINEFRIFERR
ZEE-ARAERTEZTEXNEEEKR g1t
ZETmMEBREFEREZ T BREETR
KRR Fie XIEERBEES Bk FELK
B e MBEAREEH -BEEEMALES
ARBAMES SRR WARBIGREEZBAR
AR TBEMNEFEREL T Eam- -2
HLZEERENMRNESRREZ TILEE 24

are appointed according to the principle of meritocracy while FKITEERABEK 21T UWHERAKREITZA
all candidates are being selected objectively, and the benefit %k °
of Board diversity will also be taken into full consideration.
The nomination committee will review the diversity of the
composition of the Board on regular basis, and will monitor the
implementation of this policy, so as to ensure this policy has
been effectively implemented.
During the year under review, one meeting was held by the REIBFEN  RELZE€HXBTT - NEH 3
nomination committee. Details of the attendance of the FHFERFHZECEHEZLEFABOT:
nomination committee meeting are as follows:

Attendance
Directors 2= R #
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng AR IF & % A& 1/1
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEERLE 1/1
Mr. Zhao Xiao (appointed on 16 February 2015) HELE(RZE—1F 1/1

ZATRBEEE)
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The nomination committee considered and resolved that all the
existing Directors should be recommended to be retained by
the Company.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The audit committee of the Company was responsible for
considering the appointment of the external auditor and
reviewing any non-audit function performed by the external
auditor, including whether such non-audit functions could
lead to any potential material adverse effect on the Company.
During the year under review, the Group was required to pay
an aggregate amount of approximately HK$800,000 to the
external auditor for their audit service.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts, and confirmed that the financial
statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any undisclosed material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

REAZERERRBREBARARELEH
FES

BB &

ARFZERERGREE B ELBMLE

ERBEIMNSZBENETT 2 EM B TAE
BRAMIESBIESSHARRBKREME
EEATNEE - REBEFER  AEBEZARS

BE 1% BRI S 1 2£47800,000/8 7T « £ B HIB (1%
BB 2 B -
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Hung Ching Yuen was appointed as the company secretary
on 13 June 2011. Ms.
service provider to the Company and a solicitor practicing in

Hung Ching Yuen is an external

Hong Kong. She has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required by the Listing Rules. The
primary contact person between the Company and Ms. Hung
Ching Yuen is Mr. Jiang Maoping, officer responsible for
compliance and legal matters.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company conducted regular review on its internal
control system and risk management procedure to ensure its
effectiveness and adequacy. The Company convened meetings
periodically to discuss financial,

operational, compliance

and risk management control. The Group’'s internal risk
management control and procedure is designed to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss
and to manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational
systems. Through the audit committee, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control and is of the
opinion that the resources for and qualifications of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function are
adequate and sufficient. The Board is satisfied with present
internal control.

AUDITOR

During the year under review, the performance of the external
auditor of the Company was reviewed. It is proposed to

reappoint the external auditor at the forthcoming AGM.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. The Company welcomes suggestions
from investors, stakeholders and the public. The Company
has disclosed all necessary information to the shareholders
and investors in compliance with the Listing Rules and uses
a number of formal communications channels to account to
shareholders and investors for the Company. These include
(1) the publication of announcements and notices, financial
information and corporate governance information available on
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
the Company; (2) the annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting provide a forum for shareholders of the
Company to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board; (3) information@akmcompany.com, an email specifically
set up by the Company for communications with investors and
provide timely replies to the enquires from investors; (4) the
provision of services for shareholders through the Company’s
registered office and share registrar in Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2015.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to Articles 65 of the Company’'s Memorandum and
Articles of Association, the Directors may, whenever they
think fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting, and an
extraordinary general meeting shall also be convened upon
request by shareholders of the Company as provided by the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) of the Laws of Hong Kong
("Companies Ordinance”), or, in default, may be convened by
the shareholders requesting the convening of an extraordinary
general meeting.
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According to Sections 566 to 568 of the Companies Ordinance,
the Directors are required to call an extraordinary general
meeting if the Company has received requests to do so from
shareholders of the Company representing at least 5% of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote
at general meetings. Shareholders of the Company may deposit
at the registered office of the Company a written request,
which shall state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting and include the text of the resolution
to be proposed at the meeting, and shall be signed by the
shareholders who made the demand. Where the Directors do
not, within twenty one days from the date of depositing the
demand, duly convene an extraordinary general meeting to be
held on a day not later than 28 days after the date on which
the notice convening the meeting is given, the shareholders
who made the demand or shareholders representing more than
half of the voting rights of such shareholders may convene an
extraordinary general meeting themselves in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which extraordinary general
meetings may be convened by the Directors of the Company,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the shareholders who
made the request as a result of the failure of the Directors
to duly convene an extraordinary general meeting shall be
reimbursed by the Company.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Articles of
Association of the Company or the Companies Ordinance.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
following the programe set out in the preceding paragraph.

In relation to proposing a person for election as a director,
please refer to the programe available on the website of the
Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the Company’s registered office in
Hong Kong at Rooms 2708-11, 27th Floor, West Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Shareholders may also send such enquiries and concerns to

Hong Kong.

information@akmcompany.com, an email specifically set up by
the Company for investor communications.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s principal activities are the manufacture and sale
of flexible printed circuit, sourcing and sale of electronic
components as well as the manufacture and sale of flexible
packaging substrates. An analysis of the Group's turnover by
geographical market of its customers and operating segments
for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and is
engaged in sourcing of raw materials and equipment for its
subsidiaries and trading of flexible printed circuit and flexible
packaging substrates. The activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year under
review and a discussion on the Group’'s future development
are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to pages
8 of this report and the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 17 to pages 26. These discussions form part of this
director’s report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year under review, as far as the Board and
management are aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the
year ended 31 December 2015, there were no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its employees,
customers and suppliers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

In accordance with international and national environmental
standards, the Group strictly follows environmentally-friendly
production by improving energy efficiency while reducing
energy consumption and pollutant emissions. Production
factories of the Group have passed the certification of I1SO 9001
and TS16949 quality control system, ISO14001 environmental
management system and OHS18000 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System. To ensure relevant national
standards of various pollutant emissions were fully complied
with, the Group implemented three levels of monitoring
and management. During the year under review, various
emission targets of the Group were in line with the
relevant environmental standards and no penalty related to
environmental performance was imposed.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The industry which the Group’s businesses operate in and the
performance of the Group are influenced by changes in market
conditions, technology advancement, evolvement in industry
standards, customers’ demands for the Group’s products,
and changes in preferences of the ultimate customers. The
Group operates its businesses in accordance with various
industry standards and government laws and regulations.
In order to meet the market demands for ever-changing
product functions and new products, the Group has made
relatively substantial investments towards the R&D of new
products and new production technologies, notwithstanding
that the R&D expenses of certain projects are supplemented
by government grants. Further, the majority of the Group's
turnover is generated from a few major customers. Hence, the
Group endeavors to respond to such operational shifts and
market demands in a timely manner, to successfully research
and develop new products and technologies, to maintain good
co-operative relationships with our customers, so as to avoid
and/or minimize the negative impact of such risks. In addition,
the flexible packaging substrates production lines at Phase I
of Suzhou Factory is still in the trial production stage and has
yet to reach the normalized production and operation stage,
which becomes one of the major risk factors of the Group's
performance. The Group is striving to speed up the process to
achieve the normalization of production and operation.
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Furthermore, the Group is affected by market risks (such as
currency and interest rate fluctuations), credit risks and liquidity
risks during its ordinary course of business. Details of the
financial risks management of the Group is set out in note 27
of the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 56.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year under review in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Group are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng (Chairman)
Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Li Ying Hong

Mr. Gao Xiaoguang (appointed on 12 March 2015)
Mr. Jia Junan (appointed on 17 November 2015)
Mr. Gong Jiantang (resigned on 17 November 2015)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew

Mr. Zhao Xiao (appointed on 16 February 2015)
Mr. Bi Keyun (retired on 3 February 2016)

Pursuant to Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
exceeding one-third, shall retire from office, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The Directors to retire in every year
shall be those who have been longest in office since their last
election. Accordingly, Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng and Mr. Hung Chi
Yuen Andrew will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 92 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
the Board shall have power from time to time, and at any time
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a vacancy or as
an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. Mr. Jia Junan, a non-executive Director appointed
by the Board on 17 November 2015 will also retire and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting.

Mr. Bi Keyun did not seek for renewal of his appointment as
an independent non-executive Director, a member of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee upon
the expiry of his term on 3 February 2016 due to his retirement.
During the year under review, no Director resigned from his
office or refused to stand for re-election to his office due to
reasons relating to the affairs of the Company.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years and
thereafter will continue until being terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has been appointed by the Company
under a letter of appointment for a term of three years which
is terminable by not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

Details of the Directors and chief executives’ remuneration are
set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2015, directors of the
subsidiaries of the Company were as follows:

Name of Subsidiaries

MEBLTEME

MEBARES

REBEEZFE—AF+ZA=1+—HLEFE &
REAMBARIZEERATALHRE:

Name of Directors

EENSA

AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd.

ZREMN(ER)EFEEERAA

New Career Guangzhou Electronics
Company Limited
BT LBREFBRAQF

AKM Electronic Technology (Suzhou)
Company Limited
ZRMNEFR (M) BERAQF]

Giant Rise Technology Limited
SRR ARRATA

Shenzhen Giant Rise Electronics
Company Limited
RYEARNEEFERAT

Chai zZhi Qiang (Chairman)~ Xiong Zheng Feng - Li Ying Hong *
Zhuang Zhijian

SeiEnR (EFE) RRIEE  FHUAT AR

Chai Zhi Qiang (Chairman)~ Zhuang Zhijian * Jiang Maoping

REW (L) HER BXF

Chai zZhi Qiang (Chairman)~ Xiong Zheng Feng - Li Ying Hong

IF &~ ZFBRAT

RER(EE) &

Zhuang Zhijian * Zheng Ai Hong (Note)
HEER BB (77)

Zhuang Zhijian (Chairman) ~ Jiang Maoping * Mo Zhi Dong
Zheng Ai Hong (Note)
HER(EE) BXF EEL BEL (52)

Note: Zheng Ai Hong resigned her directorship in Giant Rise Technology Limited i : HEOR-_Z—AFNLA+AABRTRARNEERA

on 15 September 2015 and resigned her directorship in Shenzhen Giant
Rise Electronics Company Limited on 5 January 2016.

AEFERE YR -_Z2-—A"F-ARABRERIE
EHREFERAREERS -
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2015, none of
the Directors and the chief executive and their respective
associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")), as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in
Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):

(@) The Company

ESERKRM HEROKEREE 2RS

599}

BRTIXFEEEN RZFE—RF+=_A=+—
B REZENRSTBRAERKRERAEZBE
ALTRARBREREEE (E&EREBED
FSNE(EHFRARGKI) (BHFRARK
BI1) EXVER) Z B fn - HERA R ) R EREREF - I
BRAIRELBEEARER S MPEKDIE
352FE AR R B RTFZERMA - HEARER
BBARZAARNE ([BRM])ESLETR
A ([ ETARBN) M+ L AR ERE
TEFRXZNFREST R ([FEFR]) HEAM
SARRANBRZBEIXRR

(a) &27F

(i) Interest in shares of the Company () REALNGRGZHEZ

Approximate

percentage of

Class and number of total issued share

Name of shares of capital in the

the Company which interested Long/ Company

in which (other than under short as at 31 December

Name interest is held equity derivatives) Capacity position 2015

R-E-E1F

RER tZA=+-8

HHRYA EERAER

REFERERZ (BR&fTE #E/ BRTREAZ

#e NRERE IERS) &6 KE BREAL

Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng the Company 6,320,000 ordinary shares  Beneficial owner Long 0.64
EREBRE /N 6,320,000 E @ EEHEAEA HE

Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang the Company 5,580,000 ordinary shares  Beneficial owner Long 0.57
KEREE /N 5,580,000 &M EHEHEAA HE

Ms. Li Ying Hong the Company 5,300,000 ordinary shares  Beneficial owner Long 0.54
FHUOTL /N 5,300,000 E&EKR EHEHEEA HE
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(b) The associated corporation

As at 31 December 2015, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, none of the Directors nor chief executive of
the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares or the underlying shares
or debentures of any associated corporations of the
Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that
was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO and the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries
or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year under review or at any time
during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the year
under review.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the top five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

FERR

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2015, no person R-ZE—AF+_-_A=+—H B FNXFriEE
other than certain Directors or chief executive of the Company & WEIR AL (FTEEFTARAEFS R
had any interests or short positions in the shares and underlying STHAE) RHERARRIREZESLRBHE
shares of the Company as recorded in the register of substantial &% 533614 BEF v X BN R L AN#EAE K&
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section A& M MBI GD 2 TS AR ok
336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the HiREZESNEASEHIEXVERE2KR3D 502 1K
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XZERARQRBIWEZTMAERSI AR SHE#E
XV of the SFO or who were directly or indirectly interested in 8k 142 # & Bff %5 4 FI| AT 72 (E (0] 1550 N A A 52 4]
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital {EAIKEBARIBRERE HRE 2 ERERIKA
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings  T{E5% 8k A E 2 #Ez5 e

of any members of the Group.

Class and number of
securities in
which interested

Approximate
percentage of
total issued share

(other than under Long/short capital in the
Name of substantial shareholder ~ Capacity equity derivatives) position Company
EEzES
ERREAE ERDRAEZH
(RA&fTE #e/ BRITREZ
TERRER 54 TAKRM) RE BRHEDL
(Note 3)
(Hrit3)
Alpha Luck Industrial Ltd. Beneficial owner 360,000,000 Long 36.46
("Alpha Luck") ordinary shares
ZHEXERRF ([ZMEXR]) ERBEAA 360,000,000/ & i ik e
Silver City International (Holdings) Ltd. Interest in controlled 360,000,000 Long 36.46
(“Silver City") (Note 1) corporation ordinary shares
REBR (£B)BERAA REERH AR #ER 360,000,000 & i i HaE
(TRERR]) (K1)
China North Industries Corporation Interest in controlled 360,000,000 Long 36.46
(“CNIC") (Note 1) corporation ordinary shares
mELFIERA ([EHIX]) N2 VNG P £t 360,000,0008% & i fix e
(Hrit1)
HK Goertek Beneficial owner 290,920,000 Long 29.46
ordinary shares
ERRBRR ERERA 290,920,000/ & i % e
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Class and number of
securities in
which interested

Approximate
percentage of
total issued share

(other than under Long/short capital in the
Name of substantial shareholder ~ Capacity equity derivatives) position Company
BEZRS
ERREAE EERDRAEH
(RA&fTE #e/ BRITREZ
TERRER 54 IEKM) A BRHEDL
(Note 3)
(Hi#t3)
Weifang Goertek Trading Interest in controlled 290,920,000 Long 29.46
Co., Limited corporation ordinary shares
("Weifang Goertek”) (Note 2)
HETRREZERRA WREH DA S 290,920,000 & 1 fix it
(T&HBI) (Hrit2)
GoerTek (Note 2) Interest in controlled 290,920,000 Long 29.46
corporation ordinary shares
TBBER (Wit2) REEHRA 2 R 290,920,000/ & 1 i e
Notes: Hat -
1. As Alpha Luck is wholly and beneficially owned by Silver City, which 1. BREMNEXHRERRFZ2EERER MRE

in turn is wholly and beneficially owned by CNIC, both Silver City and
CNIC are deemed to be interested in the same number of shares of the
Company held by Alpha Luck under Part XV of the SFO.

2. As HK Goertek is wholly and beneficially owned by Weifang Goertek, 2.
which in turn is wholly and beneficially owned by GoerTek, both Weifang
Goertek and GoerTek are deemed to be interested in the same number
of shares of the Company held by HK Goertek under Part XV of the SFO.

3. None of Alpha Luck, Silver City, CNIC, HK Goertek, Weifang Goertek nor 3.
GoerTek was interested in any securities of the Company under equity
derivatives.
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SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a shareholder of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year under review or at any time during the year

under review.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The company did not issue any shares or debentures during the
year ended 31 December 2015.

RESERVES

The Company's reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2015 comprised the retained
profits of HK$71,815,000.

Details of changes in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 59 and note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such confirmation, the Company considers that all of its

independent non-executive Directors are independent.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group's retirement benefits schemes for the
year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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J*WIE%&TEHM%&LF““

G
RZZE—RAF+_A=+—8 AQF Ao
BETYREZFEESRERH71,815,0008 T °
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RARE R E
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount
of turnover attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 49.22% of the Group's turnover
and the turnover attributable to the Group's largest customer
accounted for approximately 13.90% of the Group's turnover.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount
of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 36.67% of the Group’ s purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier
accounted for approximately 10.05% of the Group's purchases.

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors, their
respective associates nor any shareholder (who or which to the
best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company) has any interest in the top
five customers and top five suppliers of the Group during the
year under review.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed shares during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which
causes or may cause significant competition with the business
of the Group.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 11 March 2014, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of its subsidiaries) entered into a framework purchase
agreement (“Purchase Agreement”) with GoerTek (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) for a term commenced from
3 April 2014 and expiring on 31 December 2016, pursuant
to which the Group agreed to sell parts, components and
other products (including but not limited to FPC products)
(“Subject Transactions”) to GoerTek. As GoerTek is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, the Subject Transactions
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions
("Continuing Connected Transactions”) of the Company.
The annual caps (“Annual Caps”) set under the Purchase
Agreement for each of the three years ended 31 December
2014, 2015 and 2016 are RMB60,000,000, RMB100,000,000
and RMB140,000,000 respectively. Independent shareholders’
approval in respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions
had been obtained on 16 April 2014. Details of the Purchase
Agreement, the Continuing Connected Transactions and the
Annual Caps had been disclosed in the announcement and
the circular of the Company dated 11 March 2014 and 1 April
2014 respectively.

During the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 December
2015, the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected
Transactions was approximately RMB23,374,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$28,968,000).
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The Directors (including all the independent non-executive
Directors) had reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions
and had confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions
were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

(3) in accordance with the Purchase Agreement governing the
transactions and on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the
Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Company has
received an unqualified letter from the auditors containing their
finding and conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected
Transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the Continuing Connected Transactions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to
the Company, and so far as the Directors are aware of, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the date of this report.

52 /o AKM Industrial Company Limited ZERBZERAF

EF (BRE2BUIFNTES) DEZ LMK

(1) R—BEAEXRBERTET:

(2) BB—REBERIAER A RIE L 15 7
R R S ER1S 2 IR FETT - I

(3) REAEANIZHRMARET MR
SERBATLE THARDAREN
BB 3 o

iE R

ARFBGZHMCEZRE REEEEHMAE
P8 M 2 & B %78 TFER|SE30005% [FZ 3
ERELVBEMUINZETE]  R2EE
BHEAE7405% [N &R LM AR RIAT 54868
BRESWZEBEN RN RISBRER B IEHE
o AN A UE I B AR iR AR B S8 14A.56
FREBLARFEFVERIFINEREE R K
- EPHAEEREGER - ARAC B R
He A B K B -

ARABERFEBERZ BT EMARAE4A
BZWERE-

Helo

DNEEFR

_\

REARFARAFREBFZEHNERES
A RBEE_ZT-—HEF+_A=+t—HILF
EREEAREH Mz ANNKRERAITH
Hl RRBIMERRAZIARFHRE -



Directors’ Report

ESERE

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has not entered into permitted indemnity
provisions with the Directors. During the year under review, the
Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance
to cover potential legal actions against its Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2015.

DONATIONS

The Group had not made charitable or other donations of
HK$10,000 or above during the year under review (2014 Nil).

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

AKM Industrial Company Limited
Xiong Zheng Feng
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 22 March 2016
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Deloitte.
45

T

TO THE MEMBERS OF AKM INDUSTRIAL COMPANY LIMITED
REFNEXEARAA
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
AKM Industrial Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 56 to 147, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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B M % BRD R

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2015 and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
22 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meataRkEMEE RS X

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ_—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

2015 2014
—E-HF —T-EF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iz FHERT FE T
Revenue WA 6 630,631 622,057
Cost of sales 5 & AR (551,392) (515,433)
Gross profit FE A 79,239 106,624
Other income H AUz A 7 36,321 28,492
Distribution costs 73 88 Bk AR (16,360) (17,189)
Administrative expenses FTHEE (25,234) (31,225)
Research and development s
expenses (70,324) (51,261)
Finance costs BLE A AR 8 (3,598) (3,206)
Profit before taxation & 74 A 9 44 32,235
Taxation BIA 10 (366) (2,272)
(Loss) profit for the year REE (FEE) T (322) 29,963
Other comprehensive expense: Hih2mEMAX:
ltem that may be subsequently BERTEMHDEEER
reclassified to profit or loss: BH:
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBREEZ
translation of fEH =58
foreign operations (25,509) (11,276)
Total comprehensive (expense) AEEE2E (LX) W=8E
income for the year (25,831) 18,687
(Loss) profit for the year EEARFE (BE)&EF
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NSIEZ ZSDN 185 29,559
Non-controlling interests FE 2 A o (507) 404
(322) 29,963
Total comprehensive (expense) EEEmE () =B85
income attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZN/NSIEZ SN (25,257) 18,317
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR AE (574) 370
(25,831) 18,687
Earnings per share BRAN 12
— basic —H K HK0.02 centsi# L HK3.11 centsi Al
— diluted — 5 HK0.02 centsi& L HK3.09 centsi& Ll
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R &

At 31 December 2015 R-ZF—AF+—-HA=+—H

2015 2014
—E-RF — a4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ok FET FA T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WEREE 13 462,072 399,215
Prepaid lease payments AN HEENRIA 4 51,600 55,249
Available-for-sale investment AIEHEZIRE 16 17,904 18,712
Deposits for property, plant and mE - BERRE2ES
equipment 13 7,284 17,017
538,860 490,193
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 17 63,772 60,218
Trade and other receivables g 5 & H bW R IE 18 192,440 204,921
Prepaid lease payments TN ERE 14 1,262 1,319
Pledged bank deposits EHERIRITER 19 2,356 2,356
Bank balances and cash RITEHREAS 20 32,851 48,143
292,681 316,957
Current liabilities mEBaE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMENFIE 21 176,855 154,470
Deferred income EIEWA 22 822 4,103
Taxation payable JET AR IR 1,981 4,285
Bank borrowings HITEE 23 119,410 66,858
Bank overdraft RITE X 20 - 14,307
299,068 244,023
Net current (liabilities) assets FnE (BB EE (6,387) 72,934
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTDEE 532,473 563,127
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ma B AR OR &

At 31 December 2015 R-ZFE—FFE+_—_A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-1EF —E—OE
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
iokza FET FET
Capital and reserves 8 AR K%
Share capital % A 25 333,161 333,161
Reserves ] 158,808 184,065
Equity attributable to owners of NATHER ANEREE
the Company 491,969 517,226
Non-controlling interests JEE IR 3,219 3,793
Total equity B 495,188 521,019
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred income PRIE U A 22 27,539 29,616
Bank borrowings RITIEE 23 6,856 10,471
Deferred taxation RIEFEIE 24 2,890 2,021
37,285 42,108
532,473 563,127

The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 147 were &Z@WRN -—E—XE=A -+ - A& E#
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on T3 E56F 1478 2 & A EHwE  WH M=

22 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by: ERERE:
LI YING HONG XIONG ZHENG FENG
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
ZRRAT BEIF g
EBZE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEEREHRK
For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZF

Attributable to owners of the Company

KREEEARS
Share Non-
Share Share Translation options  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total interests Total

FER
RA&  RORE REHE BREEE RIEN an i AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TET TR TR TER TBT TR TR TBT

At 1 January 2014 RZE-NF—-A—H 54,990 57,412 69,487 1,270 96,261 279,420 3,423 282,843
Profit for the year AEEHF - - - - 29,559 29,559 404 29,963
Other comprehensive expense Hin2ERY - - (11,242) - - (11,242) (34) (11,276)

Total comprehensive (expense) income AEEZE(RR) W28

for the year - - (11,242) - 29,559 18,317 370 18,687
Issue of new shares BITHK 213,933 - - - - 213933 - 213933
Exercise of share options EREETE 6,826 - - (1,270) 5,556 - 5,556
Transfer upon abolition of par value HARGATERROEEL

under new Companies Ordinance -t 57,412 (57,412) - - - - - -
At 31 December 2014 RZZ-WE+=A=1+—H 333,161 - 58,245 - 125,820 517,226 3,793 521,019
Profit (loss) for the year REEEF (B8) - - - - 185 185 (507) (322)
Other comprehensive expense Hip2@EAX - - (25,442) - - (25,442) (67) (25,509)
Total comprehensive (expense) income AEERE (AX) haRE

for the year - - (25,442) - 185 (25,257) (574) (25,831)
At 31 December 2015 R-B-EF+-A=1+-H 333,161 - 32,803 - 126,005 491,969 3,219 495,188
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

melEmE R

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ_—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

2015 2014
—EB-I8fF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FE T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Profit before taxation B 25 A A 44 32,235
Adjustments for: BT ESBEIELFAE:
Interest expense MBS H 3,598 3,206
Interest income B A (65) (701)
(Reversal of) allowance for doubtful debts (&80 ) RIEEE (71) 1,799
Allowance for obsolete inventories PREFERE 3,346 4,716
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments T8 7H & 5118 4 8 1,311 1,336
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERREBZINE
equipment 38,141 36,490
Foreign exchange difference on SEANRRBGEH®R 2
inter-company balances N =5 (4,806) (1,713)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE WEREH2
equipment 18 505 58
Deferred income recognised B R Z R A (19,480) (20,111)
Operating cash flows before movements  &EE &2 FHATLE
in working capital HenE 22,523 57,315
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE () R (10,719) 8,285
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 KA ERFRIAE
other receivables A (18 hn) 2,819 (41,878)
Increase (decrease) in trade and B NEMENFIA
other payables = O ) 27,066 (7,210)
Decrease in amount due to ultimate FEAT B A4 IR R RUE
holding company k> - (1,023)
Government grant received B2 B WA 15,429 22,575
Cash generated from operations REMBRE 57,118 38,064
Profits tax refund (paid) RE (B FIEM 408 (793)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid B RECEMER (1,336) (1,098)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES EREXKFAEESTE 56,190 36,173
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - WER&E
plant and equipment Fr{S3k18 4,963 439
Interest received B U F B 65 701
Purchase of property, plant and equipment HEE %  BE L& E (113,244) (156,473)
Purchase of available-of-sale investment BEAHEEZ2HRE - (18,945)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEEFIZEBESTBE (108,216) (174,278)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZF

2015 2014
—E-1EF —E—OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEK
New borrowings raised iEEE 226,002 153,821
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (172,788) (200,772)
Interest paid 2R E (3,598) (3,206)
Proceeds from issue of shares BTG ATS A - 217,035
Exercise of share options 1718 i P - 5,556
Repayment of loan from BEREERABZER
ultimate holding company - (38,775)
Transaction costs attributable to BT EE Z R SRR
issue of shares - (3,102)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES TE%KMERLS TS 49,616 130,557
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BekFALEHER
CASH EQUIVALENTS R EE (2,410) (7,548)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNRERBES
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR £EEH 33,836 42,177
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE NEERSE 2 HE
RATE CHANGES 1,425 (793)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERESRBESZEER
AT END OF THE YEAR 32,851 33,836
REPRESENTING Bp
Bank balances and cash SRITHEMBRNIRS 32,851 48,143
Bank overdraft RITE X - (14,307)
32,851 33,836
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ_—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

62

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability on 9 December 1993.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market ("GEM") of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect
from 18 August 2004. On 18 June 2014, the Company
transferred the listing of its shares from GEM to the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. The registered office of
the Company is situated at Rooms 2708-11, 27th Floor,
West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong, and the principal place of business
of the Company is situated at 63 Huan Shi Road South,
Information Technology Park, Nansha District, Guangzhou
City, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars while the functional currency of the
Company is Renminbi (“RMB"). The reason for selecting
Hong Kong dollars as its presentation currency is because
the Company is a public limited company in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and
is engaged in sourcing of raw materials and equipment
for its subsidiaries and trading of flexible printed
circuits (“FPC"). Its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in manufacture and sale of FPC, sourcing and sale of
electronic components and manufacture and sale of
flexible packaging substrates.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact
that its current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$6,387,000 as at 31 December 2015 and the Group
incurred a loss for the year of HK$322,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZF

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 2. HREAHBHRR 2 mEER (£)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, RARESZRA KERANEEE R A E)
taking into account the presently available banking AZRITRMERALTBER AEEE
facilities and internal financial resources of the Group, BRAREEESEA R ARE VBAERE
the Group has sufficient working capital to meet in full M REMEHBETEST AL NEFEE
its financial obligations as they fall due in the foreseeable MR IR B EE LR -

future. Hence, the consolidated financial statements have

been prepared on a going concern basis.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. BRI RLETEBUBEREE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first
time, the following amendments to HKFRSs (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “new and revised HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA").
Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined benefit plans: Employee
contributions
Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual improvements to HKFRSs

2010 - 2012 cycle

A([EBHBREER])

RAFEE AEEEREAUATHEES
AEing ((HEEMAE ) B 2EE
MFImEERNZERT (NG [#a] M
BT EAMBHRELER]) -

St BEGIEALT 5
B4
FBHBREE

e8]

EREANE  ER
R
BREMBHREE-F

—EFE2TCF

BE EREUE
Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual improvements to HKFRSs BRRBRERM BEARBRERAU-T
2011 - 2013 cycle B3] ——FE2ZT =%

BE EREUE

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

RAFERAZ RN REERT T ERB
BELRAHAEERANFRERBEFELZ
FBRERMARR KR EHEE TR
RSB HBEERNLBERTE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ_—F—AF+_-A=4+—HIFFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments’
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with

customers’
Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations?
Disclosure initiative?

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Clarification of acceptable methods
of depreciation and amortisation?

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer plants?

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements?

Sale and contribution of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment entities: Applying the

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 consolidation exception?

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs

2012 - 2014 cycle?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a day to be
determined.

64 /o AKM Industrial Company Limited ZERBZERAF

R REER] BRI B REE
B([EBUHH/EEN]) (&)

AEESAREFER TN BMEERKRE
MR MR BB B RELER

BERBREERFIR
BERBREERE 155K

BARBREEME1R
ZIEFT
BEGEASE IR BT

ERETENEIR R
BB S EREIRT
B3]

ER O EREI6H K
BRI ERNENR L

37
EARHEAEIRY
37

BRI BREERE10%
REECFERE28%
ZIEFT

BEMBEHREERE0
5 ABMBEREE]
ENHRRAEEEL
£28% 2 B3]

BRI BREER B

TRTA
RERPADHRE

BRAEXKERNE
SHREBRE
REYF

HERZHTEREH
HENER

BEAEMREY

BUMBREOERDE

REERABERAL
RECERNEEL
EEGIN

REER: ERGEAR
LB

ERMBREEA T
—ZFEZFQF
B2

! RZFE-NF-A—-BH2&RABZFERHE

ER e

? RZE-—RE-A-ARZ&ARZFEHH

R

: REFBEZ AR ZRABRZFRERRNE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ—-F—AF+-HA=1+—HILFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial assets.
HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 includes
the requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further
amended in 2013 to include the new requirements
for general hedge accounting. Another revised version
of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include a)
impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other
comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category
for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9:

e all recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement” are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets, and that have contractual terms of
the financial asset that give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments
and equity investments are measured at their fair
value at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

3.

R RAEIER] BB I IS %
(&R HH/EEA]) (&)

BERMBEBEERFEIREMTA

R-ZEENFRANEBHBRSELE
SRCIERHEREEND BANAENH R
E-HER -_ZT-TFEITNETBNBER
%EH'J%%‘L\1%%@3‘1%?“@&?;%
REIFERNRE IR _F—=FMA
7&1‘?% RE P EE R I%Eiﬂ@%ﬁ%ﬁm S
“E-MFEEMANE R B REERSE9
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ_—F—AF+_-A=4+—HIFFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

e in relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS
39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity
to account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in
the future will have impact on amounts reported in respect
of the Group’s available-for-sale investment. However, it
is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that
effect until a detailed review has been completed.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Cont’d)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Cont’d)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
‘control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS
15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may have a material
impact on the amounts reported and disclosures made in
the Group's consolidated financial statements. However, it
is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed
review.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption
of the new and revised HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Companies Ordinance
("Cco").

The provisions of the new Companies Ordinance (Cap
622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors’
reports and audits became effective for the Company
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. Further,
the disclosure requirements set out in the Listing
Rules regarding annual accounts have been amended
with reference to the new CO and to streamline with
HKFRSs. Accordingly the presentation and disclosure
of information in the consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 have
been changed to comply with these new requirements.
Comparative information in respect of the financial year
ended 31 December 2014 are presented or disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements based on the
new requirements. Information previously required to be
disclosed under the predecessor CO or Listing Rules but
not under the new CO or amended Listing Rules are not
disclosed in these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 "Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories”
or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

ETRGTHER (&)

RFHERMHE2EEZRARGFERREE
KFRPHEEEREDMERKEEE
ERANER M AwmXERESER
ABRNAER S —HGETAFEL G-
st —BEEXBENAFER A5H
SERMS2RENFEARHEESLR
BEEERMAEREERRBRL ZFHK
BUBRRPIEAER ' AREAROQ
FEDRLELEETE HEFEMBEHREE
RIJ 55 255 LA B 40 73 B 2 5 SR 80 B 9 DA R £
REENNRR 5 BEGTERF17H
HERENEER S REAFEBELEL
FRFENE (WEBSHERE2RE
SRR FEXB LG ERFE3CHRE
ERERERER) BRI

AN BB E®RmE - AFEFERER
FEFENGABBAEREE A FE
AENBABBHERREZNSIBARSE
— BIRE=HFBEOT:

s FABABEBRSERARNINGE
ARENT2HRNEERBERE
BHISHRE CRAE)

s FABABEBATEREE -—MWRE
MEEXABRNAEZRXREAEZERD
WARE &

s FoABABEBR/REEXABNTA
BERB AR

Annual Report 2015 —ZE—HEFHR \ 69




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B A AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

70

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company:

e has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. TES:FHEK (£&)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold by the Group to outside customers in
the normal course of business. Revenue is reduced for
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar

allowances.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and title are passed, at which time all

the following conditions are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of revenue
from operating leases is described in the accounting policy
for leasing below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Government grants (Cont’d)

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rationale
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. FTES:FEER (£&)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those asset until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Borrowing costs (Cont’d)

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income and expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees of the
Company

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting period, the fair value of services
received determined by reference to the fair value of
share options granted at the grant date is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period or recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when the share
options granted vested immediately, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at that date
of grant, the fair value of the share options grants is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share capital. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Retirement benefits contributions
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes and state-managed retirement benefit schemes

are recognised as an expenses when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including building held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than properties
under construction as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets or buildings borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Buildings under development for future owner-
occupied purpose

When buildings are in the course of development
for production or for administrative purposes, the
amortisation of prepaid lease payments provided during
the construction period is included as part of costs of
buildings under construction. Buildings under construction
are carried at cost, less any identified impairment losses.
Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management).

Impairment loss on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. TEZ:FEER (£&)

Impairment loss on tangible assets (Cont’d) BEREEREREE (&)

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be WEAXEEE 2 RESERRERR
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the B ZEEECEEDERERZETIE
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment THoREBEIINNERKRARER -

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Research and development expenditure mREA

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an MREANRELEHBRBER A H -
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from EHEEMATIFECEZRE Ald%HE
development activities (or from the development phase of REBS (IRNPBE 2EEBER)EELEZA
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the HEARTZEESTUER:

following have been demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible o TERMATITIH LeETTEA B A E DA

asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

ERARLE:

e BFEXTKENEERFEANIHESR
=

s FEHAHLEEBTEEZRE

s EBIPEERRELKAEMm A

e HYMEEME UHREMERT
RERMERIHERELEE : &

s AIRERHIMAEAEEBLEERIS
Z RS o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Research and development expenditure (Cont’d)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value is determined as the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZF

4.

= B 5 R AR MR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into available-
for-sale financial asset and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that requires delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
and cash are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. FEEHE (&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial asset

Available-for-sale financial asset is an non-derivative that is
either designated or not classified as loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instrument are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established.

Available-for-sale equity investment that does not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured. Such unquoted
equity investment is measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets
are considered to be impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. FTEZ:FHEK (£&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
credit period of 30 to 120 days, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. TEZ:FEER (£&)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
bank overdraft and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its
entirety, the Group allocates the previous carrying amount
of the financial asset between the part it continues
to recognise, and the part it no longer recognises on
the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on
the date of the transfer. The difference between the
carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer
recognised and the sum of the consideration received for
the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain
or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those
parts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. XEEFHEK (£)

Financial instruments (Cont’d) SWMIA(E)

Derecognition (Cont'd) BUETER (&)

The Group derecognises a financial liability when, and only EREEASE BT ERR TUSE
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled R AEEFUHBRES B AE - BUEHER
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of ZemAERAEECNKEMNREZZE
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration BHIONEBERPER-

paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 5. A5t FHBARZZFERR

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 4, directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are also discussed below.

Estimation of useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment. The estimated
useful lives and residual values are based on the expected
lifespan and original cost of those property, plant and
equipment respectively. The useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment could change
significantly as a result of technical obsolescence. When
the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment are different from their estimated useful
lives and residual values due to the change of commercial
and technological environment, such differences will cause
an impact on the depreciation charges and the amounts of
assets written down for future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Estimation of useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment for
the Group as at 31 December 2015 are HK$462,072,000
(2014: HK$399,215,000), respectively.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The management regularly reviews the recoverability and
aging of the trade and bills receivables. Allowances are
applied to trade and bills receivables where events or
changes in circumstances indicated that the balances may
not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful
debts requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Allowance for doubtful debts is made based on the
estimation of the future cash flow discounted at the
financial assets original effective interest rate to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows and
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will cause an impact on carrying amounts of
trade and bills receivables and doubtful debts expenses in
the year in which such estimate is changed.

The carrying amount of trade and bills receivables at
31 December 2015 for the Group are HK$161,765,000
(2014:HK$182,055,000), net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$6,666,000 (2014: HK$7,707,000).
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 5. AR THBEEZZ2EERE (£)

UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Allowance for obsolete inventories

The management reviews an aged analysis at the end of
the reporting period, and makes allowance for obsolete
and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no
longer suitable for use in production. The management
estimates the net realisable value for such finished goods
and work in progress based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. If the net realisable
value of inventories is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the inventories is reduced
to its net realisable value.

The carrying amount of inventories for the Group
as at 31 December 2015 is HK$63,772,000 (2014:
HK$60,218,000), net of allowance for obsolete inventories
of HK$7,040,000 (2014: HK$7,965,000).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the net amounts received and
receivable for the sales of FPC, electronic components,
manufacture and sale of flexible packaging substrates
to external customers, net of discounts and sales related
taxes.

Segment information

Information reported to the Executive Directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers
("CODM"), for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on type of
goods delivered.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER (&)
(Cont’d)
Segment information (Cont’d) PEER (F)
For management purposes, the Group is currently RANER AEEHRH=[XBHEE
organised into three operating divisions, namely the B BNBUE R IHE R M ERIR  IRERHEE
manufacture and sale of FPC, sourcing and sale of B UARREREHEREHEER
electronic components and manufacture and sale of XK -ZENHNAEEMEBLERE
flexible packaging substrates. These divisions are the basis EREEDEER 2 B
on which the Group reports its segment information to the
CODM.
Principal activities are as follows: FEEBHINT
FPC business —  the manufacture and sale of FPC ZHEERREE — RNERHEXIME
B AR
Sourcing and sale - the sourcing and sale of RELRHESET - HKBREEETT
of electronic electronic components TLER T B
components
business
Flexible packaging - the manufacture and sale of FZMEREER — HERIEELMEH
substrates flexible packaging substrates i FEMR

business
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.
(Cont’d)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable segment.

Segment revenue

WARDEBER (&)

Pk L ONE S

AREEBZRURRDBEAD ZRAREED
ManT e

- external sales Inter-segment sales Eliminations Segment results
2BEA
—HEBHE SHEHE b FBEE

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

ZB-nf “T-NF ZB-1f —“ZT-NF —B-1f _—T-NF -B-IF —T-MOF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FEn TR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TER TAT TER TAT

FPC business FUEBRES 548,959 484,065 78,110 1,113 (78,110) (1,113) 36,141 40,321
Sourcing and sale of electronic &R EET F &M

components business 55,403 101,725 38,014 54,882 (38,014) (54,882) 1,372 5,775
Flexible packaging substrates M HEEREHR

business 26,269 36,267 824 - (824) - (12,965) 15,880
Total At 630,631 622,057 116,948 55,995 (116,948) (55,995) 24,548 61,976
Interest income FlEMlA 65 701
Central administration costs RRATHAL AR (20,971) (27,236)
Finance costs BERKA (3,598) (3,206)
Profit before taxation Bt A& 44 32,235

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
4. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs,
interest income and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the Executive Directors, the Group's CODM,
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

IR B2 &R BUR TD B ARt 2
AEESFTHRRMER - 2 8 A5 5 2 #8
PTBRER 2 i A - B3 R RATERAA -« F
BRARBERAER B UL TI28 T
HATEF (AEBEZIERERERE) AE
BRDPBEERFHERR 2T A -
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER (&)
(Cont’d)
Segment assets and liabilities ITHEEHEER
Segment assets T EEE
2015 2014
—E-fF — P4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHETT
FPC business FHEERIRER 596,833 541,461
Sourcing and sale of electronic KEMEEE T TREHER
components business 12,084 45,201
Flexible packaging substrates business 2214 & 2 Z AR # 7% 169,513 151,277
Total segment assets BwoEEE 778,430 737,939
Unallocated assets AOBREE 53,111 69,211
Consolidated assets ReEEE 831,541 807,150
Segment liabilities DHBEE
2015 2014
—E-IF —E-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FE T
FPC business FHERIRER 202,858 166,609
Sourcing and sale of electronic RENEEEFTREER
components business 963 17,385
Flexible packaging substrates business 224 £ 2 H AR % 7% 1,395 4,195
Total segment liabilities woHEE 205,216 188,189
Unallocated liabilities AOBREE 131,137 97,942
Consolidated liabilities maBfE 336,353 286,131
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZF

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER (&)

(Cont’d)

Segment assets and liabilities (Cont'd) PHEERESE (&)

Segment liabilities (Cont'd) PHEE(E)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and REERSHXRREZDB2EOEE

allocating resources between segments: IR

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other - MBEAEHESEZFBRHE - HE
than available-for-sale investment, pledged bank TEEAHEE 2 8E DR
deposits and bank balances and cash. FEHRARBITHEG LRS-

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments — FMBAEHEIEZAR®RS I
other than bank borrowings, bank overdraft, taxation TEFERITIEE - R17EX  ENHE
payable and deferred taxation. MRFERLIE -

Other segment information Hith 5 WEH

2015 —E-iF

=11}
=2
i
P
ok
=
et
0
)i
2

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss OB ER BRI

or segment assets:

Sourcing
and sale of Flexible
electronic packaging
FPC components subtracts Segment
business business business total
RERHEE
FUERR EFnsElt RHHEER
¥ ES) 3 £33 WA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TEx TET TER
Reversal of doubtful debts RERE (35) (36) - (71)
Allowance for (reversal of) REFERE (BEER)
obsolete inventories 3,573 (277) 50 3,346
Addition to non-current assets (note) ~ REERBEE (f:F) 87,146 - 35,439 122,585
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments ¥ {7 & FUB # 4 1311 - - 1,31
Depreciation of property, mE BEREEHTE
plant and equipment 27,115 61 10,965 38,141
Government grant for research and BBWRIER 2B 28
development projects (1,676) - (17,804) (19,480)
Loss on disposal of property, HENX BELREEZESR
plant and equipment 505 - - 505
Research and development expenses  HiZ & H 38,611 - 31,713 70,324
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER (&)
(Cont’d)
Other segment information (Contd) HitppHER (&)
2015 (Cont’d) —E-RE(E)
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHRFELEAFRERECFEETE
in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment ERTE D BB DEEEZFKIB
assets:
Sourcing
and sale of Flexible
electronic packaging
FPC components subtracts Segment
business business business total
RERHE
FUHERR EFnEH  FUHEER
%% %% %% AHEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TR TR TET TET
Interest income FIEHA (57) (6) () (65)
Interest expenses FERX 3,598 - - 3,598
Income tax expense FEHAX 145 221 - 366
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss SME (Wa) BRIFE (2,388) 1,182 (19) (1,225)

96

Note: Non-current assets represent property, plant and equipment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER (&)
(Cont’d)
Other segment information (Cont'd) HitppHER (&)
2014 —E-—mE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss FESHERKDBEERBE 2 HIE

or segment assets:

Sourcing
and sale of Flexible
electronic packaging
FPC components subtracts Segment
business business business total
RERHEE
FUEBER EFTEN FUHEER
%% %% %% Lk Ch
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAET TAER TET
Allowance for doubtful debts RRRE 1,124 570 105 1,799
Allowance for obsolete inventories REFEEE 4,602 114 - 4,716
Addition to non-current assets (note) ~ AEIFETREEE (HiF) 41,152 - 97,581 138,733
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments & fH € ZEE 1,336 - - 1,336
Depreciation of property, mE -BEREENE
plant and equipment 35,018 74 1,398 36,490
Government grant for research and BRI 2B 28
development projects (1,154) - (18,957) (20,111)
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BERSEIER
plant and equipment 58 - - 58
Research and development expenses — Hi & &H 29,186 - 22,075 51,261
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER (&)
(Cont’d)
Other segment information (Contd) HitppHER (&)
2014 (Cont'd) ZE-WEF (&)
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHRFELEAFRERECFEETE
in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment ERTE D BB DEEEZFKIB
assets:
Sourcing
and sale of Flexible
electronic packaging
FPC components subtracts Segment
business business business total
RERHEE
FUHEEIR EFTBEN FUHEER
%% 5% %% AHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FET FTET THT
Interest income FIEHA (602) (6) (3) (701)
Interest expenses FERX 3,206 - - 3,206
Income tax expense FEHRX 680 251 - 931
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss INE (Wa) BRFE (293) 864 (20) 551
Note: Non-current assets represent property, plant and equipment and Wit : ETRBDEEEYME BERBEBEURELGHEE
prepaid lease payments. I
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER (&)
(Cont’d)
Geographical information i & &R
The Group operates in two principal geographical areas — REBRMEETEMEEL—FEH (T
the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) and Hong Kong (country BEB)REE (GEMKZHE) - TS
of domicile). The following table provides an analysis TASEREPFEMIEAE S 52K 850
of the Group's revenue from external customers by the HEP ZWAZDHT:

geographical location of the customer:

Revenue from
external customers

RENMBEFEZBWA
2015 2014
—E-HEF —E—OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
PRC other than Hong Kong PE (T BEEE) 277,657 323,704
Hong Kong aBA 248,254 185,120
Others Hity 104,720 113,233
630,631 622,057
Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets, AEBZBRBHIERBDEE (BEWE
including property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease B R R A RIER & I8 R

payments, are located in the PRC. B A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WARDEER (&)
(Cont’d)
Information about major customers FRTEEFZEHR
Revenues from customers of the corresponding years RENBEFE AREEHEE BT KA
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are 10% 8RR &P ZWAIT
as follows:
2015 2014
—E-IF —E-MOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Customer A’ PR 87,671 -2
Customer B’ BRZ 72,296 98,970
L Revenue from manufacture and sale of FPC. ! RERENEEZEERRZUA -
2 The corresponding customer did not contribute over 10% of the total 2 HAEPR_ZT—NFEMZBRATBBARE
revenue of the Group in 2014. BEKAZ210% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hipyg A
2015 2014
—E-1EF —E—OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Release of government grant BN IRAE L EE MR i
for construction of factory B2 BT ER
on existing land 829 845
Release of government grant for ENHT IR B 2 BT R R
research and development projects 18,651 19,266
Government subsidies BT E B 15,806 7,074
Interest income LB A 65 701
Rental income He WA 21 65
Scrap income FERFHA 536 523
Others HAh 413 18
36,321 28,492
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. REMAE
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER T T
Interests on: A
Bank borrowings RITIEE 3,598 3,099
Other borrowings HmEE - 107
Total borrowing costs e BN A BRE 3,598 3,206

Annual Report 2015 —ZE—HFEFR \ 101




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B A AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

9. BRBLAIEF

2015 2014
—E-RF —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Profit before taxation has been arrived &A1 M2 05 (5 A)
at after charging (crediting): ATRIER -
Research and development expenses s A
Staff costs 8 ITHA 19,176 10,119
Other research and development HbfzE s A
expenses 51,148 41,142
70,324 51,261
Directors’ and chief executive’s EFEERFETHAEMS
remuneration (note 11) (Kraz11) 945 1,029
Other staff costs Hith 8 TAA 159,810 107,762
Other staff’s retirement benefits costs  EH b & T 7 iR R 4& | p A 11,170 8,409
Total staff costs B TR A48 5 171,925 117,200
Less: Other staff costs included in BT ALEXFRAEERZ
research and development Hh B TRA
expenses shown above (19,176) (10,119)
152,749 107,081
(Reversal of) allowance for doubtful (B iEm) RERBE
debts (71) 1,799
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments &1 fl & 2t 78 #4 84 1,311 1,336
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R B 2 1,004 780
Cost of inventories recognised as an ERRAEMAZ 2 FEMR
expense (note) (B1iE) 551,392 515,433
Depreciation of property, plant and ME--BMERZRHENE
equipment 38,141 36,490
Loss on disposal of property, plant and & FE L& E 2 EE
equipment 505 58
Minimum lease payments under THREFLEEREERT 2
operating leases in respect of ®EMHE
land and buildings 362 426
Net foreign exchange (gain) losses SNEE () B 1B)F 58 (1,225) 551
Shipping and handling expenses EHLFEE (FFADHE
(included in distribution costs) X)) 2,644 2,196

Wit ©EPEREFTERH3,346,0008 L (=%
—PO4F : 4,716,000 7T ) °

Note: The amount includes allowance for obsolete inventories of
HK$3,346,000 (2014: HK$4,716,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years. The income of
the PRC subsidiaries neither arises in, nor is derived from,
Hong Kong.

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is based on
the estimated taxable income for each PRC subsidiary and
at its applicable tax rate. Under the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January
2008 onwards.

AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd. (“AKM Panyu”)
and AKM Electronics Technology (Suzhou) Ltd. (“AKM
Suzhou"”) were awarded the Foreign Invested Advanced-
Technology Enterprise Certificate in prior years. AKM
Panyu and AKM Suzhou are entitled to tax rate reduction
from 25% to 15% for three years commenced from 1
January 2015 and 1 January 2013 respectively.

10. TAXATION 10. 18

2015 2014
—E-1EF —E—OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Current tax: BIEARR IR
Hong Kong Profits Tax HERET - 230
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR ERTER 3,300 3,114
3,300 3,344

Under(over)provision in prior years: DWEFERETR
(B

Hong Kong Profits Tax BBENGEH 53 (201)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R EMEH (3,979) (2,212)
(3,926) (2,413)
(626) 931

Deferred tax: EETIR
Current year (note 24) KEZ (Kit24) 992 1,341
366 2,272

FANBHR I RBEMESFE 2 G ERT
AR E16.5%F B P EME AR Z
WAXIFEFBELERTIFREES

FRECEMERIRETEMNEBARZE
PR 2R Bt B R B RR B MR VE H B 48 - AR
BEhEARKMBEEEMREHE ([1REFR
BROED) REEMEBOEAEBIED -+
MBARZREE _ZEZN\F—H—RHit
F25% °

RBEFE RN (FR)ETFTEEXEAR
NE([HFBLEMN])RTENEFRK
(M) BRAF ([BRMNZEN])EES
FEMEERT - BELRNEHMNL R
MoplE—_ET—RF-—HA—-—ARZ_Z—=
F-—A—HARBR=FZAHERAH2% THE
15% 2 BB E R °

N
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

10. TAXATION (Cont’d) 10. Bi1E (&)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit FRzREAEESER REMPEKZE
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or RZBRBADR N FHE 0T
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
2015 2014
—ZE-I1F —T-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET T T
Profit before taxation B 35 A& 7 44 32,235
Tax at the applicable income tax rate  1REMFTEH R R HE
(note a) MIE (Mata) 7 4,835
Tax effect of income that are not FAE TE B AR B R s N AT
taxable in determining taxable profit —~ BRI Z WA Z T KT E (133) (14)
Tax effect of expenses that PO TE FE SR B s I B S Al
are not deductible MR zAZ BB E
in determining taxable profit 1,337 135
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERITIRERERE
differences not recognised DTky:3 % (149) 445
Tax effect on further deduction of MER A E—THBRAEHRZ
research and development w2 (Mib)
expenses (note b) (1,812) (1,634)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERHIBEIE 2 KT E 4,178 415
Overprovision in prior years NAEFEZBEBETR
(EERRHE) (3.926) (2,413)
Effect of different tax rates of HEBRRIREAM R EERR
subsidiaries operating in other KEZTRAME B
jurisdictions 209 110
Utilisation of tax losses previously BACZAIRER B EIR
not recognised (337) (401)
Deferred taxation arising IR 93 B e A TR 0
from withholding tax FrEE 2 BERIR
on undistributed profits (note 24) (K17t24) 992 1,341
Others HAh - (547)
Taxation for the year REEHIA 366 2,272
Notes: Htat -
a.  AKM Panyu is the Group's major operating subsidiary. Therefore, the (@ HERBENMNAKEEzFEZEZENBR

Group's applicable income tax rate is 15% (2014: 15%).

b. Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations, PRC subsidiaries (b)
can claim PRC income tax credits on additional 50% of the qualified
research and development expenses in the PRC. Such PRC income tax
credits are allowed, and are accounted for, as deduction from current
income tax expenses when relevant conditions are fulfilled and tax
approval is obtained from the tax bureau.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S M. ESRTETHRAEBZHMERASR
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID R FH AL
INDIVIDUALS
(i) Details of directors’ and chief executive's (i) EZERTETHAEZHMESHFBERS
remuneration are as follows: mT:

Other emoluments

HitB <

Retirement  Performance

Salaries benefit related
and other scheme incentive Total
Fees benefits contributions payments  emoluments
E23c 04 RUKER  ERRHH
ne Hit 3B F sTEIf S A% [EEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET TER TEx TET
(note g)
(Wiitg)
Executive Directors: HTESE:
Xiong Zheng Feng BRI - - - - -
Chai Zhi Qiang LR - 528 66 87 681
Non-executive Directors: FHTES:
Li Ying Hong Fyia - - - - -
Gao Xiao Guang (note ¢) mBEK (Hitc) - - - - -
Jia Jun An (note f) BER (f132f) - - - - -
Gong Jian Tang (note d) BRE(Mid) - - - - -
Independent non-executive BV FHTES:
Directors:
Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HER 60 - - - 60
Zhao Xiao (note e) R (fifite) 84 - - - 84
Bi Ke Yun Enf 120 - - - 120
Total for 2015 “Z-1FAR 264 528 66 87 945
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S M. EEkT Eﬁrtﬁzé,%zm%&ﬁ%
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BeEHMAL (&)
INDIVIDUALS (Cont’d)
(i) Details of directors’ and chief executive’s () EBERFETHRAEZHESFHERT
remuneration are as follows: (Cont'd) mr: (&)
Other emoluments
Hiodi &
Retirement Performance
Salaries benefit related
and other scheme incentive Total
Fees benefits contributions payments emoluments
‘ ik BIVER ERRAN
e Hip g A fzwi\?k P % We@E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT FET AT THL
(note g)
(Hiitg)
Executive Directors: HITES:
Xiong Zheng Feng BRI - - - - -
Chai Zhi Qiang s - 533 40 220 793
Non-executive Directors: EHITES:
Li Ying Hong E3ISN - - - - -
Gong Jian Tang BRZ - - - - -
Meng Wei Wei (note a) mEE (Wita) - - - - -
Independent non-executive BV IFHTES:
Directors:
Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEER 60 - - - 60
Bi Ke Yun = 120 - - - 120
Liang Zhi Li (note b) REN(Hitb) 56 - - - 56
Total for 2014 —E-MEAE 236 533 40 220 1,029
Notes. k=3
(@)  Resigned on 5 September 2014. (@ RMZZE—NFNLARBET-
(b)  Resigned on 21 November 2014. by R=ZT—WF+—A=+—HEHE-
(c)  Appointed on 12 March 2015. (0 RZZE—RF-A+ZHEZR{E-
(d)  Resigned on 17 November 2015. d) RZEBE—RF+—A++tHET-
(e)  Appointed on 16 February 2015. (&) RZZE—AF-_A+BEZME-
(f)  Appointed on 17 November 2015. f RZZE—HAF+—At+tBHEZ{E-
(9)  The performance related incentive payments are determined (9) BHERFEHZVRENBAEBEEEER
with reference to the Group’s operating results and individual EARBMERE -
performances.
Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang is also the Chief Executive of SeERFEETTRBARDAIITHRAR
the Company and his emoluments disclosed above Bl (a0 EXCFT#ER )’F]%ﬁl%ﬂﬂl,m
include those for services rendered by him as the 2 515 1204 BR TS PR IRER 7 B -
Chief Executive.
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above iyﬁﬁﬂ'\iﬂﬁ§§2@)ﬂ$£ ZHKE
were mainly for their services in connection with the EEANRRRANREEHATIREZ R
management of the affairs of the Company and the 5 AERE
Group.
The emoluments of the non-executive directors and iYﬁﬁﬁ?Fﬂﬁ%%&ﬁi##ﬂﬁﬁ
independent non-executive directors shown above EIMETEREBERARAES
were mainly for their services as directors of the FITH £ 2 B 7% 1 A -
Company.
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11. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (Cont’d)

(ii) Employees’ remuneration:

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2014: one) was director of the
Company whose emoluments are included in the
disclosures in note 11(i) above. The emoluments

M. BEERTETHAEZHMER AR
BReEHMAL (&)

(i) EEMS:

AEBREREHMA LS —F (=
T—MF: —R)BARAES HF
B Bt Z B RE11() 2 SR BE o 82
THE(ZE—MmF: 1B ALZH

of remaining four (2014: four) individuals were as B &L 51 a0 T
follows:
2015 2014
—E-HF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Salaries and other benefits FekHEMmEF 3,292 2,346
Performance related incentive ERIRE 2 1B
payments 693 587
Retirement benefit scheme RARTE FIET B 3K AR
contributions costs 167 163
4,152 3,096

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HEZMEN FUTBE:

2015 2014

—E-1F —E-MF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AE

HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 T 7T 21,000,000 7T 2 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000  1,000,001& L=

2,000,000/ 7T 2 1

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the
Group to the directors and the Chief Executive or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

FA-AEELEAESF RITHRAS
SR AR FHMALINERBE
PAVE R S By hn A SN A AR 55 B By 2 38
T REBAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. 8REF|
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RAaEB ANEBRERERREERF T
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the RIEA TBIRFE -

following data:

2015 2014
—ZE-EF —E-MOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Earnings B F
Profit for the year attributable to RIETEERER KX
owners of the Company BERN RN RAEE A
for the purpose of JEAE R FE R T
basic and diluted earnings 185 29,559
Number of shares
% &
2015 2014
—E-FF —E—HF
Number of shares R &
Weighted average number of REAHEGREARRT 2
ordinary shares for the purpose of T @A niE &
basic earnings per share 987,470,000 950,381,452
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary RIE AR A IR AT &
shares issuable under the Company’s 7] #3172 L@ 2
share option schemes BHEEEYE - 4,745,117
Weighted average number of RIETEBRES AT 2
ordinary shares for the purpose of @A hnkE T
diluted earnings per share 987,470,000 955,126,569
All outstanding share options were exercised during the EEHEAITEREREESRBEE S —WF
year ended 31 December 2014. No share option was TZA=tT—HIEFERETE -HEZ
issued during the year ended 31 December 2015 and T—AET_A=+—HIEFEARmEE
outstanding as at 31 December 2015. THEERE MR _E—hF+-A=1+—

B A 1) R 1T R B A A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/

13. W% BERREB NE BER

> S, 4o
DEPOSITS FOR PROPERTY, PLANT AND RiBZRE
EQUIPMENT
Plant and Leasehold Office Motor  Construction
Buildings machinery improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
BF BEREE HENEEE  BLERG ] ERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR ThR Thx FEL TR TAR TAR
CosT BA
At 1 January 2014 —Z-mFE-A-H 94,440 306,369 20,621 18,356 2,866 27,361 470,013
Additions NE - 11,409 4,523 1,454 1,160 120,187 138,733
Disposals HE - (1,953) - (61) (633) - (2,647)
Transfer ai 66 - 267 - - (333) -
Currency realignment ERAE (2,322) (7,890) (563) (462) (52) (1,811) (13,100)
At 31 December 2014 “Z-ME+-A=t-H 92,184 307,935 24,848 19,287 3,341 145,404 592,999
Additions RE 3,089 32,144 2,478 996 538 83,340 122,585
Disposals HE - (21,308) - (129) (144) - (21,581)
Transfer af 74,943 89,849 25,338 8,086 - (198,216) -
Currency realignment siEE (6,088) (20,461) (3,863) (2,581) (402) (2,358) (35,753)
At 31 December 2015 —Z-FFf+-A=t-H 164,128 388,159 48,801 25,659 3,333 28,170 658,250
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2014 “Z-mE-f-H 9,112 129,067 10,438 13,052 2,079 - 163,748
Provided for the year FEEE 2,198 24,411 7,446 1,939 496 - 36,490
Eliminated on disposals HEREE - (1,487) - (50) (613) - (2,150)
Currency realignment ERAE (251) (3,327) (348) (343) (35) - (4,304)
At 31 December 2014 ZE-MEFZAZ+-H 11,059 148,664 17,536 14,598 1,927 - 193,784
Provided for the year FEERE 10,367 22,516 4,544 156 558 - 38,141
Eliminated on disposals HEREKH - (15,858) - (118) (137) - (16,113)
Currency realignment EHRE (849) (14,521) (1,932) (1,958) (374) - (19,634)
At 31 December 2015 “Z-RF+-A=t-H 20,577 140,801 20,148 12,678 1,974 - 196,178
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2015 ZE-REFZA=T-8 143,551 247,358 28,653 12,981 1,359 28,170 462,072
At 31 December 2014 ZE-MEFZA=1+-8 81,125 159,271 7,312 4,689 1,414 145,404 399,215
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/ 13.
DEPOSITS FOR PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis after taking into
account of the estimated residual values at the following
rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of
the lease of relevant land, or
40 - 50 years

Plant and machinery 5 - 15 years

Leasehold Over the remaining term of the
improvements lease or 4 years, whichever is
shorter
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 — 5 years

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has pledged
buildings and plant and machinery with carrying
amounts of HK$56,176,000 (2014: HK$60,324,000) and
HK$24,139,000 (2014: HK$59,061,000), respectively to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

The buildings are located on leasehold land in the PRC.
Deposits for property, plant and equipment represent
deposits paid to suppliers and subcontractors for

acquisition of property, plant and equipment and
construction in progress.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

14. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

14. ASEEMRE

2015 2014
—E—REF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
The Group's prepaid lease payments ~ AEE ZENHERBRIE:
comprise:
Leasehold land in PRC: RABEZHEE 52,862 56,568
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HEWMAEZH:
Current assets mENE E 1,262 1,319
Non-current assets EMEBEE 51,600 55,249
52,862 56,568
The prepayment for land use rights is under leasehold and THFRE BN RIBEAEENIZERE
is amortised over 50 years on a straight-line basis. S50F#iH -
As at 31 December 2015, the Group has pledged land RZE—RAF+ZA=+—H *&
use rights in PRC with carrying amount of HK$18,401,000 BiRIRERE(E 18,401,000 T (= ZE— 9
(2014: HK$19,698,000) to secure general banking facilities 119,698,000/ 7T ) 2 # B + Hb {5 A 4% -

granted to the Group.

ERASEMER —RRITEEZER-
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

15. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 15. AR BB AR 218
COMPANY
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 December RZE—RAFR T —NF+_A=+—
2015 and 2014 are as follows: AZASEWBRARIZEFBET
Place of Form of Attributable equity
establishment  business interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation  structure Paid-up capital by the Company Principal activities
HEARER BURSE Y CEARES HMREX HAARREZEERARS FEEY
Directly Indirectly
HiE GE:3
ZRF (EB)ETEEEMRAA  The PRC Wholly United States Dollar 100% - Manufacture and sale of
AKM Panyu HE owned-foreign ("US$") 21,700,000  (2014: 100%) FPC, manufacture and
enterprise 21,700,000%7 (ZF—HF: sale of flexible packaging
IEEERE (2014: US$21,700,000) 100% ) substrates
(—E—meE: HERBEEFHERRR
21,700,000% 7T HERHERMHEER
BMEZBEEFHRAR The PRC Wholly US$2,229,000 100% - Manufacture and sale
New Career Guangzhou F owned-foreign 2,229,000 (2014: 100%) of flexible packaging
Electronics Company Limited enterprise (2014: US$2,229,000) (=Z—Ju4: substrates
SNEBERE (Z2—mF: 100%) HERBEFHTEER
2,229,000 7T)
ZHEMNEFRE (HMN)BERDEF  The PRC Wholly US$37,642,460 100% - Manufacture and sale of
AKM Suzhou FE owned-foreign 37,642,460 (2014: 100%) FPC, manufacture and
enterprise (2014: US$32,642,460) (—Z—[0%: sale of flexible packaging
SNEBERE (Z2—m4F: 100% ) substrates
32,642,460% ) HERBEEFUHERERK
HERHERMHEER
EAREBARAT Hong Kong Limited company HK$1,000,000 75% - Trading of raw materials and
Giant Rise Technology Limited Ak BRAR 1,000,000/ 7T (2014: 75%) FPC, sourcing and sale of
(2014: HK$1,000,0000 (=Z—Qm%F: electronic components
(ZZ—pmF: 75% ) BERMBRFUERR -
1,000,000% T ) RERHEEETIRN
FINEAENEEFERARA The PRC Wholly Renminibi (“RMB") - 100% Trading of raw materials and
Shenzhen Giant Rise Electronics B owned-foreign 1,800,000 (2014: 100%)  FPC, sourcing and sale of
Company Limited enterprise AK%1,800,0007C (ZZ—M%:  electronic components
SEBELE (2014: RMB1,800,000) 100%) EERMHRZEERER.
(ZF—;mF: RERHEETTEN

AR #1,800,0007)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at BB A RIS A (B 4 B RS R B AT AR & 75
the end of both years. Ko
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

16.

17.

= B 5 8 AR MR

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

16. AHEZRE

2015 2014

—E-1EF —E—OFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Unlisted equity investment JELTRERE 17,904 18,712

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
acquired a 9.32% equity interest in an unlisted company
incorporated in the PRC for a total consideration
of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$18,712,000). During the year ended 31 December
2015, additional shares were issued by the unlisted
company, after which the Group’s holding was diluted
to a 7.11% equity interest of the unlisted company. The
investee is engaged in research and development of semi-
conductor packaging substrates. The unlisted equity
investment is measured at cost less impairment at the end
of the reporting period because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the fair value cannot
be measured reliably.

RBEEZE=_Z—N&F+=-_A=+—HLHF
g AEEARE15,000,0005T (FHER
#918,712,000/ ) 2 B R EBHWE —K R
B 5 K 7 A9 3E BT A RIA99.32% AR AR
Em - REBEE-_T—AF+-_A=+—8
IHFE - ZIE LM RRIBEINEITRD - X5
B AEBREZIIELTRRZRERES
TN%  WIREHRUEFLEEREESR
EMiAE -BRIELTRERENQFE
AEGMEHEBRN ARAEERAEZX
A E A FE  WZEFELETRER
B AR E BARIEK AR E 2 55 =T

8-

INVENTORIES 17. 8
2015 2014
—E-IF —ET-mF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Raw materials R 20,964 24,887
Work in progress X o 25,346 19,991
Finished goods AN 17,462 15,340
63,772 60,218
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. EZ R HEMEWFIE

Trade and other receivables include the following balances
of trade and bills receivables:

B 5 hEMEYWFIARTE TIIE S RIAR
BN R RIR AR

2015 2014

—E-1F —E—OF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FATT

Trade and bills receivables B rINFIE R EREE 168,431 189,762
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B RER AR (6,666) (7,707)
161,765 182,055

Other tax recoverable H h A] 4 (8] #5718 14,259 13,262
Other receivables (note) Hfth e W ERIB (HaE) 16,416 9,604
192,440 204,921

Note: The amount mainly represents the prepayments which in the opinion
of the directors, the amount is expected to be utilised within the next
12 months.

The Group allows a credit period normally ranging from
30 to 90 days to its trade customers. At the discretion of
the directors, after assessing credit quality of particular
customers, several major customers were allowed to settle
their balances beyond the credit terms up to 120 days.

Before accepting any new customer, the management
delegates a team responsible to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and define credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Approximately 73% (2014: 71%)
of the Group's trade receivables, respectively that are
neither past due nor impaired have the best credit scoring
attributable under the internal credit scoring used by the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

18.

= B 5 8 AR MR

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills
receivables presented based on the invoice dates (other
than bills receivables which are presented based on the
issuance date of relevant bills) at the end of the reporting
period, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates:

18. 8

K E o FE WSRO (48)

ATARBERRREZAH (EZEH
WAMER B HEE) 252 8 5 R IKRKIEA
K EWRE 2 RO (BRKREEERN
HIZHBREZEHAHES)

2015 2014

—E-EF —E—-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Within 30 days 308 A 75,023 72,423
31 - 60 days 31%60H 35,736 42,855
61 — 90 days 61%E90H 17,759 33,270
91 — 120 days 91%Z 1208 19,878 23,068
121 days — 1 year 218 &21F 12,566 9,588
Over 1 year T 803 851
161,765 182,055

Included in the Group's trade receivable balance is amount
due from a shareholder and its subsidiaries amounting to
HK$16,462,000 (2014: HK$15,155,000).

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$36,748,000 (2014: HK$44,118,000) which are past
due at the reporting date for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss in view of the satisfactory
subsequent settlement. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. The average age of these
receivables is 136 days (2014: 92 days).

JEW —ZRERERLKENE QA NKE
16,462,000 L E At AR KB 2 8 5 &
Wk E e (ZZF — M4 : 15,155,000
JC) °

AEEBESRERRELEHDERLE
18 A36,748,0008 7L (=& — Y 4 :
44,118,000 7T ) 2 FEUER 5K - BEARIER
WMEBBMDBEE HREEEBENKER
BREEREE NEBITEEDRERSE
BE - AEEUVEXZSEHRFTEAMNE
HRh-ZERWFKEBEZ FHERE A1368
ZE—HF:928) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 18.

Ageing of trade and bills receivables presented

BEZREMEBWRIE (&)

RERZAM2ICBHUERREZESE

based on the invoice date which are past due but not KREREKEE 2R
impaired
2015 2014
—E-EF —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
0 - 30 days 0%230H 3,467 3,058
31 - 60 days 31£60H 3,937 12,559
61 — 90 days 61290H 1,130 11,537
91 - 120 days 912 120H 15,851 12,918
121 days — 1 year 218 &21F 12,348 3,195
Over 1 year T 15 851
36,748 44,118
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts REREZEH
2015 2014
—E-HF —E-mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Balance at beginning of the year F YRR 7,707 6,179
(Reversal of) impairment loss recognised i & 4 70 I8 #E 52
on receivables CRERERED)
VEREN R (71) 1,799
Amount written off as uncollectible i EE S AT Bl 2 IR (687) (122)
Currency realignment B RE (283) (149)
Balance at end of the year FRER 6,666 7,707

Included in the Group’s allowance for doubtful debts are
individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate
balance of HK$6,666,000 (2014: HK$7,707,000) by
reference to subsequent settlement and credit quality
of individual customers. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 18. ES R HMEWRE (&)
The Group's trade and other receivables that are L EEEREEB N EEFIE
denominated in currencies other than functional currencies ZAEEE S REAMEWFIEEHS AT

of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2015 2014
—ZE-EF —E-MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
us$ EVACE D 79,206 95,385
South Korean Won (“KRW") EEE ([EEE]) 82 1,037
19. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 19. EHEARITER
The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks to ZHBERERTIRIT TR AEERE
secure short-term banking facilities granted to the Group FTAEEZ2RBRITEE Bo2EAR
and are therefore classified as current assets. BEE-
The pledged bank deposits of the Group carried at interest REBZEHEMRITEFERIK02% (ZF
rate of 0.02% per annum (2014: 0.02% per annum). The —OFE  FFEK0.02% ) ZEFERFE B
pledged bank deposits will be released upon settlement of KRBT FRERNBRARITEEFTEER
the relevant bank borrowings. The pledged bank deposits B B EMMBITERIIABTTEHE
are denominated in HK$.
20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/BANK 20. SRITHEBAR B ® (RITEX
OVERDRAFT
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRESE
Bank balances comprise short-term bank deposits with RITHEBRBIEAN F0.01%E1.15% 2 F
original maturity less than three months which carry FE(ZZFE—MF:001%%E1.15% )T &
interest at rates ranging from 0.01% to 1.15% (2014: BREBHBLR=EA 2 G ERITHER
0.01% to 1.15%) per annum.
Included in the Group's bank balances are short-term REERTERBEERERE ZRITZ
deposits of HK$26,442,000 (2014: HK$46,204,000) kept 52 HA 13 58026,442,0008 70 (=& — Y 4 -
in banks located in the PRC. 46,204,000 7T ) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/BANK 20. SRITHEBRRIRE RITEX (&)
OVERDRAFT (Cont’d)

Bank overdraft RITEX

During the year ended 31 December 2014, bank overdraft BE-_Z-—NF+_A=+—RHLFE"
carried interest at market rate of 4.00% per annum. The RITHE IETIHF F E4.00%5 B R 17
bank overdraft was denominated in US$. BRIAETTIIE -

In addition, included in the bank balances and cash are the AN RITHEB AR BE TN EBASE
following amounts denominated in currencies other than EERZNEEE AN ZEEIIE 2K
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are 18 -

set out below:

2015 2014

—E-1F —E—OF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

uss eV 6,906 22,075

KRW PR 370 648

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. ES REMBENRIE

Trade and other payables include the following balances: B o5 REMBNRIBEEE T4 :

2015 2014

—E-HF —E—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Trade and bills payables B HENFIERENER 139,834 129,278

Payables for acquisition of property, WEME BEREHEZ

plant and equipment JE 3R IE 6,278 3,099

Accrued staff costs fEsH 8 TRk A 13,020 11,916

Construction payables FET TR FIB 12,809 3,230

Other taxation payables JE A< L A, B 1B 674 673

Other payables and accruals Hh e IE R EETE A 4,240 6,274

176,855 154,470
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd) 21. EF REMBENFIE (&)
The following is an aged analysis by invoice date/bills T ARBREHREEEAN ZHEHA
issued date of trade and bills payables at the end of the HEZP 2B S RENRIBRENRE R
reporting period: oA
2015 2014
—E-EF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Within 30 days 30BN 50,635 98,607
31 - 60 days 31260H 38,106 23,880
61 — 90 days 61290H 26,457 4,307
91 - 120 days 91%120H 11,463 1,109
121 days — 1 year 218 &21F 12,601 1,322
Over 1 year T 572 53
139,834 129,278
The Group's trade and other payables that are DEESEEERENEEE U EETE
denominated in currencies other than functional currencies ZAEBEE S RAMBENRKEBERINAT

of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

uss$ ETT 28,288 38,362
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

22. DEFERRED INCOME 22, EFEUW A
2015 2014
—E-AF —T—-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FHT
Government grants received # T RIERKERZ
in respect of: R R -
Development of new products FMEFED (Mita)
(note a) 24 3,268
Construction of factory RIRE T EE R E
on existing lands (note b) (K1iEb) 28,337 30,451
28,361 33,719
Less: Amounts to be recognised B REREBRAERZ
in profit or loss RIE
in the following year (822) (4,103)
Amount shown under non-current FRBEEETATZEHE
liabilities 27,539 29,616
Notes: et -

The amounts represent government subsidies received in advance
in relation to research and development expenses incurred on
the development of certain new products. The amounts would
be recognised in the same period as the related research and
development expenses were incurred resulting in release of
HK$18,651,000 (2014: HK$19,266,000) to profit or loss.

The amount of RMB26,750,000 was received in respect of a
development support fund for the construction of factory on
the lands owned by the Group located at Suzhou pursuant to
“Implementation Measures for Development Support Policies for
Advanced Manufacturing Industries in Suzhou Gaoxin District”. The
amount would be released over the estimated useful lives of the
constructed factory upon the commencement of operation of the
new factory. The construction of the factory was completed and was
in use since 2011. During the year, HK$829,000 (2014: HK$845,000)
was released to profit or loss. Details in relation to the grant of the
fund had been disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
25 September 2008.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. IRITIEE
2015 2014
—E-IF —F-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Bank loans (note) RITER (H1:E) 111,751 77.329
Export invoice discounting loans (note) O3 ZREIHE K (H1at) 13,129 —
Trust receipts loans (note) S WIEER (K iE) 1,386 —
126,266 77,329
Secured B 104,818 77,329
Carrying amount repayable: FEEZEREE :
Within one year —F K 119,410 66,858
More than one year, but not LA —FETBBMRE
exceeding two years 4,068 10,471
More than two years, but not ZRMEETBBRF
exceeding five years 2,788 -
6,856 10,471
126,266 77,329
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

23. BANK BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

Note. Bank loans amounting of HK$104,818,000 (2014: HK$77,329,000)
are secured by charges over land use rights, buildings, machinery and
bank deposits (2014: land use rights, buildings, machinery and bank
deposits) of the Group while the trust receipts loans in prior year was
secured by charges over the Group's bank deposits (note 29).

At 31 December 2015, included in the bank borrowings of the
Group are bank loans amounting of HK$111,751,000 (2014:
HK$77,329,000) which bear interest at fixed rates. The export invoice
discounting loans and trust receipts loans carry interest at prevailing
market rates.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as

23. SR1TEE (&)

Bt RITERE % 5104,818,0008 T (T —NO
£ 77,329,000 7T ) + AR E 2 + b AR -
BFE BERBTER(ZT—NOF: L1 ER
EETF B RIBTER)ERR MBAFE
EREWMIEERURNEBBRARR R ZRITFRE
R (M5E29) -

RZZ—RAF+ZA=+—0"  FEEEFFA
RITERZ 4% A111,751,0008 7L (ZZF—
% 177,329,000/ 70) JyIEE E A R BB
FERUABERRERRIEERTRRITMSF
it e

AEEEE Y BEAE (TAZRETHF
R BEMT -

follows:
2015 2014
—E-8F —ET—NF
Effective interest rates: EEF =
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMNEEE 2.48% to 4.83%  2.88% t0 3.25%
Variable-rate borrowings TR REE 3.12% to 3.50% N/AT 3 A

The Group’s bank borrowings that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

NHEREEEREERUINZEEIE
ZAREERARBZRITEEHTIMT

2015 2014

—E-EREF —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

uss$ ETT 103,600 62,723
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24.

DEFERRED TAXATION

The following deferred tax liability mainly arises from
withholding tax on the undistributed profits of the PRC
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015 and
movement thereon during current and prior year:

24, FEFEFLIE

ATRTEAGTEHBERARRBEEZE=-F
—hAF+ A=+t —HLEFEZARNEE
MAZEHIRMEE 2 EERBGE &
HRAFERBEFEZABE

HK$'000

FET

At 1 January 2014 RZZE-—MF—-—H—H 714
Charged to profit or loss (note 10) EEEEMR (AiE70) 1,341
Currency realignment BHAE (34)
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—WF+—A=+—H 2,021
Charged to profit or loss (note 10) stABEER (BE10) 992
Currency realignment B (123)
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—RAF+ZA=+—H 2,890

During the current year, the Group has recognised a
deferred tax charge of HK$992,000 (2014: HK$1,341,000)
which is arisen from the undistributed profits of the PRC
subsidiaries.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
the deductible temporary differences in respect
of accumulated allowance for doubtful debts and
accumulated allowance for obsolete inventories of
approximately HK$4,426,000 (2014: HK$4,497,000) and
HK$7,040,000 (2014: HK$7,965,000) respectively. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised in the
foreseeable future.

MAFE  AEBE B #R992,000% 7T (=
T — P04 11,341,000 T 2 IR IEFE 1 &
) ZIBRERIEL L - ZREPEMNEA
BlZ R EAEATE -

RBERR NEBEBERZER 225
BEMRETEZ R BEEBA 2T
Fe By Z 58 Bl #94,426,000/8 0 (ZZF—Y
% 14,497,000/ 7T ) 27,040,000/ 7T ( =
T — P04 : 7,965,000/ 7T ) ° BT A] B
BRSBTS ZRE Bt
A0 48 B 5% 55 AT H00R B B 2= RE R R B TR 18
BE-
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont’d) 24 RIERLIE (&)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused R EBRR  NEE B 7K SH AR R ER
tax losses of approximately HK$30,445,000 (2014: i v Al 2 AR B) FA B T E51830,445,0007%8 7T
HK$5,269,000) available for offset against future taxable ZZ—PU£E 5,269,000 7T ) ° AR IK
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due i ) R =B R P i
to the unpredictability of future taxable profit streams. EIERLTEE E - N B8 B IR 18 2k 7] £ R AP
The tax losses in Hong Kong may be carried forward MiEHEE - NP BEELSZ FRAIESRE
indefinitely. The unrecognised tax losses arising from RIIEE K 493,274,000 £ (— T — M
subsidiaries operated in the PRC of approximately F:4,596,0008 L) R ZE—RFEZ
HK$3,274,000 (2014: HK$4,596,000) will expire from T N\FEHIH-

2016 to 2018.

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. R A
Number of Share
shares capital
R EE [
HK$'000
FHT
Authorised: JETE
At 1 January 2014 RZZE—MOF—H—H
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each —GREE BT
&5 2,000,000,000 200,000
At 31 December 2014 and 2015 RZZE-—MFER-_FT—AF
(note a) +=ZA=+—8 (#ita) N/A 713 A N/A i A
Issued and fully paid: AT MR
At 1 January 2014 RZE—mFE—H—H
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each - SREEINETLY
R 549,900,000 54,990
Transfer upon abolition of ARG TR R G EE
par value under the new LR (Hia)
Companies Ordinance (note a) - 57,412
Shares subscription and placing REEHENEEEE
(note b) (Ktith) 423,070,000 213,933
Exercise of share options (note c) TTRERERRE (M7t c) 14,500,000 6,826
At 31 December 2014 and 2015 RZZE-—MOFR
—EZ—RAF+=-A=+—8
— Ordinary shares with no par value — —#EE{E 2 @K 987,470,000 333,161
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Notes:

(a)

(o)

Under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), with
effective from 3 March 2014, the concept of authorised share capital
no longer exists and the Company’s shares no longer have a par
value. There is no impact on the number of shares in issue or the
relative entitlement of any of the shareholders as a result of this
transition.

On 27 January 2014, the Company allotted 290,920,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each to an independent third party at a
subscription price of HK$0.513 per share. On the same day, the
Company allotted 132,150,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each by
placing to six placees at a placing price of HK$0.513 per share. The
Company raised approximately HK$213,933,000 (net of expenses).
The new placing shares and subscription shares were issued pursuant
to the specific mandates granted to the directors by resolutions
of the shareholders of the Company passed at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 27 December 2013. Further details of the
placing and subscription of new shares are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 27 November 2013, 27 December 2013 and
27 January 2014.

On 27 January 2014, the shareholding of the former immediate
holding company, Alpha Luck Industrial Limited (“Alpha Luck"”),
decreased from 65.47% to 37.00%. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, Alpha Luck was no longer the parent of the
Company.

During the prior year, 8,400,000 shares and 6,100,000 shares were
issued at HK$0.40 per share and HK$0.36 per share upon exercise of
the Scheme and the Pre-IPO Scheme (as defined under note 26) of
the Company by share option holders.

25. BRA& (&)

Byat -

(a)

RER-_F-—MF=A=ZBERZH AR
(BBENE6228) EERANBEZETE
£ ARBM A TBAEE  WEELTEHE
BTN BB SUEMBR O BAE R RIER T E -

RZE—NF—A-_++tB KXAaAUE
ROGIBELTREBRA —E2FEF=TREH
290,920,000 &R0 10/ T LB - R A - AR
AIBLE FIE - AR E E & R0.5138 LR NG
A HE A BE B AN A RlA $£132,150,0008% f% {5 © A
AR A I FT849213,933,00058 ¢ (IR ) ©
FRERD EREBRO DIBBEAAGTRENR=
T—=F+ A+ EABTZRERBIAS
EBBZAERAESREZERRERT-F
AL E RAMHRGD 2 — FetE MR ARQA
HHAE—_Z—=F+—A=-++tH —Z2—=F
+—A-ttBERE—NE—A=-+tHZ
N

RZZ—MFE—A=++H RN ERAER
MEZEBRLE ([ZF]) R EH65.47%
£37.00% - NARIEERA TN THBREAQA
pASTNE

RAEFE - RERER A ATTEARE 258
R AT RS E (TR RMIE26) %% 0 £ Bl
S %0.40/8 7T }20.36/4 7T 2 {B 1% % 178,400,000
%26,100,000% B 175 ©
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26. SHARE OPTIONS 26.

Pursuant to written resolutions of the then shareholders
of the Company on 6 August 2004, the Company
adopted both a Pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO
Scheme”) and a share option scheme (the “Scheme”).

(a) Pre-IPO Scheme

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Scheme is to, amongst
others, give the participants an opportunity to have
a personal stake in the Company and help motivate
the participants to optimise their performance
and efficiency and retain the participants whose
contributions are important to the long-term growth
and profitability of the Group.

The HK$0.40 exercise price per share of the above
share options granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme is
the same as the initial public offering price of the
Company'’s shares. No share options under the Pre-
IPO Scheme were exercised since the date of grant.

No further share options have been offered or
granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme upon the
commencement of listing of the Company’s shares.

These grants under the Pre-IPO Scheme are
exercisable, starting from the first anniversary of the
Listing Date at stepped annual increments of 25% of
the total options granted, for a period of not later
than 10 years from the date of grant on the condition
that the participants are still under employment of the
Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which share
options are issuable under the Pre-IPO Scheme shall
not in aggregate exceed 5% of the number of issued
shares.
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26. SHARE OPTIONS (Cont'd)

(a) Pre-IPO Scheme (Cont’d)

As at 1 January 2014, the total number of shares
in respect of which share options were issuable
under this scheme was 8,400,000 representing
approximately 1.53% of the issued share capital of
the Company. The 8,400,000 share options were
wholly exercised during the year ended 31 December
2014.

Details of the movements in the number of share

26. BBARFESTEI (£2Z)
(a) BRIBBRATEE (&

R-ZZ—NMFE—F—8 REFER
e ERENTFTETZIRNEBEA
8,400,0008% ' (h AN A& B B 1TAR ALY
1.53% ° 5% %8,400,0000% & R #E A% {5
EREZE-_ZE—mFE+=-A=+—H
IEFERNBEITRE-

RIBERBRATE 1R 2 R 8

options under the Pre-IPO Scheme were as follows: BzE#FBmT:
Exercise  Outstanding Exercised  Outstanding
Type of price at during at
participants Date of grant Exercisable period per share 1.1.2014 the year 31.12.2014
R=B-m%F R=B-mfE
-5-H t=A=t-8
SEEEH RUAH TEHE BRTEE e ERfTR Ei:d
HKS
B
Directors 6 August 2004 18 August 2005 to 6 August 2014 0.40 5,400,000 (5,400,000 -
g% ZEZWEN\ARE “ZZRE\ATNBEE
—Z-MENARA
Employees 6 August 2004 18 August 2005 to 6 August 2014 0.40 3,000,000 (3,000,000 -
E& —ZEMENARA “ZZRE\ATNEE

“Z-MENARA

The weighted average closing price of the Company'’s
shares immediately before the date on which the
share options were exercised during the year ended
31 December 2014 was HK$1.24 per share.

No options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2015 or outstanding at 31 December
2015.

8,400,000 (8,400,000) -

EEBERERBEE _ZT-—OF+ A
=+ —BLEFERTEAN AABKRNOA
MEFHRTHESERI 248 T

REBEZE-_Z-—AF+-A=+—HILFE
WERLBERE MR _FT—AF+ A
=t BMERRITEZ BAE-
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26. SHARE OPTIONS (Cont’d)

(b) Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to Participants (as defined below)
thereunder for their contribution to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group and any entity in which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries holds any equity
interest (the “Invested Entity”).

The directors may, at their discretion, invite any
participant (the “Participant”) being any executive
director, non-executive director or employee (whether
full time or part time), shareholder, supplier, customer,
consultant, adviser, other service provider, any joint
venture partner, business or strategic alliance partner,
in each case, of the Company, any subsidiary of the
Company or any Invested Entity or any discretionary
trust whose discretionary objects may be any
executive director, non-executive director or employee
(whether full time or part time), shareholder, supplier,
customer, consultant, adviser, other service provider,
any joint venture partner, business or strategic
alliance partner, in each case, of the Company, any
subsidiary of the Company or any Invested Entity
to take up options to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

The Scheme commenced on 18 August 2004,
being the date on which the Scheme becomes
unconditional, and continues in force until the tenth
anniversary of such date.

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from
time to time (the “Scheme Limit").
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26. SHARE OPTIONS (Cont'd)

(b) Scheme (Cont’d)

In addition to the Scheme Limit, and subject to the
following, the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Company’s shares in issue as at the Listing
Date (excluding any options which have lapsed) (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”). The initial number of
shares issuable under the Scheme Mandate Limit will
be 54,000,000 shares, representing approximately
10% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Unless approved by shareholders, the total number of
securities issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each Participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares
in issue. Where any further grant of options to a
Participant would result in the Company’s shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of
the relevant class of securities in issue, such further
grant must be separately approved by the Company’s
shareholders in general meeting with such Participant
and his associates abstaining from voting.

26. BEIRFESTEI (&)

(b) &H&I(#&)

BREFEIFREESN - FE TRRT - IBIRET
B J AR A ] H A B AR A A I %
ZEEERE (TEETENERRZ
B BT ER A RERITZIRO R
B EHTHEERAR ETABRE BT
f&1.210% ([FHEIEERTE]) - BIE
PRI ERBE VLSO TEIT RN E
B # /54,000,000 B 17+ 15 & A &)
ZEBEITIRALI0% -

B FEE B R AL - IMEMR + —{E A 5
MR RAEsE2EERNZBRE
(BREITEREKRTTEZERE)
BOTEREBETRETETZES
BB TNEBRBAREEEHTRN
1% o A — B2 EEE - TR BER
BRESEIZAALIREE (LB
B)ZE—FEREOAMET @A
MRITEECER N SERZMER
PtE (BIEEITE  EERERITELZ
BRE) MBRTRHERETZAR
AkmnhAaRBREAERCD BTRIES
Z1% L — TR H AL R AR
ERREAG ELA1THE ME2EE
REBBALTARERRE-
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26. SHARE OPTIONS (Cont’d)

(b) Scheme (Cont’d)

The exercise price must be at least the highest of:
(a) the nominal value of the Company's share on the
date of grant; (b) the closing price of the Company’s
share as stated in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; and (c) the average closing
price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

A nominal consideration of HK$10 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of an option.

Share options are vested immediately on the date of
grant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the Directors of
the Company to each grantee of the option which
period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the option is granted but shall and in any
event be not later than ten years from the date of
grant. Unless otherwise determined by the directors
of the Company at their sole discretion, there is no
requirement of a minimum period for which a share
option must be held.
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26. BBIRERTE (&)

(b) &H&I(#&)
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26. SHARE OPTIONS (Cont'd)

(b) Scheme (Cont’d)

26. BEIRFESTEI (&)

(b) &H&I(#&)

As at 1 January 2014, the total number of shares
in respect of which share options were issuable
under this scheme was 6,100,000 representing
approximately 1.11% of the issued share capital of
the Company. The 6,100,000 share options were
wholly exercised during the year ended 31 December

RZTE—MFE—A—AB RBEFEF
HoEBREN TEIT 2RO BE R
6,100,000 " 15 R 2 Rl B 1T A
B1.11% - BE2_FT—WF+=A
=+—HIEFE  %%6,100,000/%
AR HERR (0 B B EATIE -

2014.

Details of the movements in the number of share

RIS BRI R R 2 (L3

options under the Scheme were as follows: BT
Exercise Outstanding Exercised Outstanding
Type of price at during at
participants Date of grant Exercisable period per share 1.1.2014 the year  31.12.2014
R-E-R%F
R=2-m#F t=A
o =t+-A
2REEH REBH TR SRTEE i K AT B ERITRE i R AT B
HK$
BT
Employees and 9 July 2007 10 July 2007 to 9 July 2017
others
EERAELM ZEZ+FEANA ZETLFLATHE
“Z—tFtANAH 0.36 6,100,000 (6,100,000) -

The weighted average closing price of the Company'’s
shares immediately before the date on which the
share options were exercised during the year ended

31 December 2014 was HK$1.24 per share.

No options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2015 or outstanding at 31 December

2015.

ERBERERBEEZE _ZT—OF+ A
=T HIEFEEITER AR
MEFHRTESERI 248 7T

RBE-_T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE
WERLBERE MR _F—AF+ A

=+ — AIRE R RITEZ BB
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. TR
Categories of financial instruments SRMIAER
2015 2014
—E-1F —ZE-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Financial assets cMEE
Loans and receivables (including cash & 7k & J& U 18
and cash equivalents) (BERE2 K
Re%EER) 208,466 232,661
Available-for-sale investment AHfEEZRE 17,904 18,712
Financial liabilities cRBE
Amortised cost BIHR AR 286,862 227,791
Financial risk management objectives MR EERE
The financial instruments are fundamental to the Group's CTRITAHASE  AFEEERAES-
daily operations. The Group’s major financial instruments AEBZFESRIERETLHERE
include available-for-sale investment, trade and other H 5 REMBYIE  EERRITER R
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and TEHRERS B MEMENFIE - ]RTT
cash, trade and other payables, bank overdraft and bank B RBITEE - ZEE2BITAZHER
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are FEMFHERE  TXHINEZEemIA
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated Bz B b K o] [ R 5z R e 2 B o
with the financial instruments and the policies on how to EREETENRERZERER NEREE
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management ARG REUE B 2 i e

manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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27.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)
Market risk

Foreign currency risk management

Certain trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables, bank borrowings, bank overdraft and bank
balances and cash of the Group are denominated in
US$ and HK$, other than the functional currencies of
the relevant group entities, which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk. The Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge against currency risk. However, the
management monitors foreign currency risk exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the reporting date are as follows:

27.

SHITHE (&)
HRAREERE (&)
HE AR

SN B

AEBzETES MEMEWRIE &
REMER IR RITEE  RITEX RIR
THERBARRETIUET BT (TRR
EREEER REER)FHE EA%E
A NS R  ARE W ARMNBERE R
TAYRERRER AW BIEEEEIINE
R YEEFEREELTERINER

LA
STy
N

o

R@EAM AEBUSINEFEZEEE
ENEBABZEEENT

Liabilities Assets
=L 5E
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-RE —_T-mME ZB-HF _—T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET TER FET
us$ E 131,888 115,392 86,113 117,460
HK$ BT 10,884 14,728 11 2,803
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 27. ST A (&)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in RMB against US$ and HK$. 5%
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis represents the trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, bank borrowings,
bank overdrafts and bank balances and cash where the
denomination are in US$ and HK$, the major foreign
currency risks. A positive number indicates an increase in
post-tax profit for the year where RMB strengthens against
US$ and HK$. For a 5% weakening of RMB against US$
and HK$, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the post-tax profit for the year, and the balances below
would be negative.

BHERBERRE(F)

w5 ()

bY - 09

TRALAEBHARBHYEZTIET
FTHE R B2 {B5% 2 R © 5% R R E 2 [E
HOMNEER 2T A IR & &) 2 AP 1l - B
EoMEEERRRBEZAINEGFEZE
BIEE YR FRBERHINEERZ5%
HEEHRARE - WAET BT (EBINE
k) FHE SURED TR KRE H K EHAE
WikiE B 5 R EMmENRIE  RITEER
RITBXRBITEHIB S -WARESH
XL RABTAY EBAIRTEERRE
AL BHRARBHE TR ELRE
5% @ K HF AL SN B — B E 28
FTE MTMIEHRBEeRaRe-

2015 2014
—E—EREF —E—mF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Increase (decrease) in post-tax AEEBRFE & T

profit for the year: #n O )
us$ ETT 1,945 (88)
HK$ BT 462 507

134 /o AKM Industrial Company Limited ZERBZERAF




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

2N

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

27.

= B 5 8 AR MR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)
Market risk (Cont’d)

Interest rate risk management

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable-rate bank balances and cash. The Group currently
does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise. The management considers the cash flow
interest rate risk is insignificant.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to the fixed-rate bank borrowings and bank
overdraft. However, the management considers the fair
value interest rate risk on the fixed-rate bank borrowings
is insignificant as the bank borrowings are relatively short-
term. The management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

27. €T R (&)

BEEBERERR (&)

w5k ()

FIEEBR E

AEBZHRESREFRE K E B HE)ZE)F|
RIPTHEB RS BH ANEBREIT &

TR RS R - AT BIEE S EIEA
TR WNFTEREELYHEAN
ZEHRB - EEERS/RTRENEE

SR TNE K-

AEBNELEERBRITEERRITEILZ
DA KRR - AT ARRITEERY
BEMS ERERRELERTEEZER

ZRAVFEMNRARM T EE - BIEEER
MERE IHEEFEREZBEHPEKR
F &R R o
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 27. ST A (&)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount
of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the management has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of
each individual trade receivable to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the management consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentrations of credit risk on trade
receivables as 17% (2014: 18%) and 50% (2014: 38%)
of the total trade receivables was due from the Group's
largest customer and the five largest customers (including
the largest customer) respectively within the "FPC
business” operating segment in the PRC. The management
considers, based on the strong financial background and
good credibility of those debtors, there are no significant
credit risk.

The credit risk in relation to pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash is limited because the majority
of the counterparties are state-owned banks with good
reputation in the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 27. €T R (&)

Financial risk management objectives (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk reflects the risk that the Group will have
insufficient resources to meet its financial liabilities as they
fall due. The Group's strategy to manage liquidity risk is to
ensure that the Group has sufficient funds to meet all its
potential liabilities as they fall due.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management also monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Group relies on borrowings as one of the source of
liquidity. As at 31 December 2015, the Group has available
unutilised short-term loan facilities of approximately
HK$152 million (2014: HK$248 million).

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group has further obtained a US$3 million bank loan
repayable within 3 years by instalments.

Liquidity tables

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay.

BEEBERERR (&)
B E %

RBETREREARETETETEREN
HIMeRmABZAR AEEEERD
B REgEERASEAERRE
eRNEBEREIHARENABEEEARG:

ErnpEcRRERETE AREGERE
LRgBEREERRACZRERAESE
HEKF - KMAAEEEERTEES R
RMERERENBZFE - EEENEE
RITBEEZHAMERETERZY-

REBKRBEEEARBDESR KR —-
WZZ—AF+_A=+—H K&H
EOHEBAMABAZEHERRE D
Bl A #9152,000,000 70 (=& — /O 4F ¢
248,000,000/ 7T ) °

REE-_ZT—HF+-_A=+—HItFE
1% KEBEE—FH153,000,0003 7T 2 3R
TER BR=FRNNHEE-

MBEE X

TRADAEBEIFTESRHBERERTE
BRM2HRTARBBABR - ZRBREAX
SEANRZ&ERAMZERBEZIRT
BREREMR-
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd) 27. €T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives (Cont'd) BERREEREZ (&)
Liquidity risk (Cont’d) mEBELEE (&)
Liquidity tables (Cont’d) mBE2 K (&)
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. TEREENEHRG ZHEERE - EFE
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the MERZBMEZHRT RTBERED
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at VASR &5 BAZR 2 A = dh 4R 15 ) o

the end of the reporting period.

On demand
Weighted and Total Total
average less than 1-3 4-6 7-12 1-5 undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 month months months months years  cash flows amount
R
mE  EREHEE FRRS

THRE  ROMER 12384 4Z6f8R  7E12{8R 12558 RELE AR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FaER TAR FER TET FER TER

At 31 December 2015 R-Z-E%+-B=+-H
Non-derivative financial FTEERERE
liabilities
Trade and other payables BAREMERFHE - (103,292) (36,118) (11,367) (9,:819) - (160,596)  (160,59)
Borrowings: BE:
~ fixed-rate bank borrowings -EERITEE 2.81 (27,016) (41,069) (36,563) (2,115) (7.052)  (113.815)  (111,751)

it g

FERREE 3.24 (8,090) (6,462) - - - (14,552) (14,515)

- variable-rate bank borrowings

(138,398) (83,649) (47,930) (11,934) (7,052) (288,963) (286,862)

At 31 December 2014 RZE-ME+-A=1-H
Non-derivative financial FESRER

liabilities
Trade and other payables BAREMERFE - (82,335) (52,517) (1,303) - - (136,155 (136,155)
Bank overdraft RITBY 4,00 (14,307) - - - - (14,307) (14,307)
Borrowings: [E5:

 fixed-rate bank borrowings -EBHRAEE 3.14 (8,825) (10,967) (46,007) (2,115) (11,283) (79,197) (77,329)

(105,467) (63,484) (47,310) (2,115 (11,283) (229,659) (227,791)
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27.

= B 5 8 AR MR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at cost and amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values at the
end of the reporting period.

No analysis of fair value measurements is presented as
the Group does not have financial instruments that are
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value in
the consolidated financial statements.

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods
adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses
are recognised, in respect of each class of financial assets,
financial liabilities and equity instrument are disclosed in
note 4.

27. €T R (&)

EMIAEZAFE

HpeRMEERSRABZATFENER
REEBRAUFRRERESNETE °

ARAREERR NEAMBRRAKE
RIBHEHERA Rz e REERERAE
ZEEERERNBERRZ A FEERE-

HAAEE L ERGE P BERRADT A
NP ERARTEZSRIA SHER
SIRFEFEZ DM

TREHEE

EHREEEREE SRABEEARATA
ERMZEBEFBREITE (BRER
B FEEERREEMS 2 EREE)
ZHBRM AR E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

28.

29.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages the capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remain unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank
borrowings disclosed in note 23, bank overdraft disclosed
in note 20, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure on a continuous basis. The Group considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital, and will balance its overall capital
structure through the raising of bank borrowings and the
redemption of existing debt.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, certain bank deposits,
buildings, plant and machinery and land use rights were
pledged to secure the banking facilities granted to the
Group as follows:

28.

29.

= e =

AEBZEAEESERRASEAZAT
FERBOAIKELE AKEBELES
KBRS 8 R AR K R KB e - AN 62 [E]
CEBRBARATEFETE-

AEBEZEARBREME2IWEZRT
fEE M0 EZRITES HERE R
RBeBTEBEARARAEEG ARIGEE
(BREHTERA RELRREERN) -

AEEERERBENEARE A&H
ZEEEARKNAREBENARE 2B -
W 3EBIBIRITRERBEEBBERIAF
MEBRBEARRE-

BEERHA

R|BEHR THETRITER BF ]
FER#ERLHERED TEM (FAX
SHERRTEEZEROT:

2015 2014

—E-—RE —E-EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Bank deposits |ITF N 2,356 2,356
Buildings BF 56,176 60,324
Plant and machinery 85 Mo 1 23 24,139 59,061
Land use rights + 3 A 4 18,401 19,698
101,072 141,439
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30. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 30.

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had

outstanding commitments for future minimum lease

payments under non-cancellable operating leases in

respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows:

RERERE
A EEAEREAA
REEHR AEEREL 1 REFTRA

B EAE MR T 7 #2812 Rk &
ERERBZRBITAENT :

2015 2014

—E-EF —E—-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTEx FH T

Within one year —F R 256 392
In the second to fifth years inclusive EFEFRF

(BPIEEEMSF) - 20

256 412

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by

the Group for certain of the office properties and staff

quarters. Leases are negotiated for terms within one year

to three years.

REVENKEAKERETHRRIEME
FBIEEAXNzZEE HEFHH—
FE=Fo

31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. EAREE
2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FH T
Capital expenditure in respect of BEVE BERREZ
acquisition of property, plant and BEARME
equipment:
— contracted for but not provided —BERAMERRESE
in the consolidated financial MRk N
statements 19,810 102,207
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 32. RIKERIFTE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
(the "MPF") for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The retirement benefits scheme contributions
charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of HK$102,000 (2014:
HK$113,000) represent contributions payable to the MPF
scheme by the Group, which contribution is matched by
employees.

The employees employed in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The Group
is required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The state-managed retirement benefits scheme
contributions charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounted
to HK$11,134,000 (2014: HK$8,336,000). The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. HBAEFIRS
In addition to the balances set out in note 18, the Group BREVAMIFE 18 2 R IN MAFEENR » A%
entered into the following transactions with related parties E G EESEI RS

during the year:

2015 2014
—E-ERF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(i) Transactions with fellow () HERMBAAZRS:
subsidiaries:
Rentals for office charged M EWE 2
to the Group WAEHE 120 120
Transactions with a shareholder/ H-ZRE—E
an intermediate holding ANERAGZRS:
company:
Interest paid by the Group REBZF2FE - 107
Transactions with a shareholder H-ERREEHNBELQR
and its subsidiaries: R 5
Sales of goods to a shareholder and —HBREEENE QR
its subsidiaries ﬁﬁ%%’ﬂ? 28,968 30,641
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(i)

(iii)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment
currently predominated by entities directly or
indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC government
(“state-controlled entities”). In addition, the Group
is significant influenced indirectly by China North
Industries Corporation (“CNIC”), a state-owned

enterprise established in the PRC.

The Group also conducts business with other state-
controlled entities. The directors consider those state-
controlled entities to be third parties so far as the
Group's business with them are concerned.

In addition, the Group has entered into various
transactions, including deposits placements,
borrowings and other general banking facilities, with
certain banks which are stated-controlled entities in
its ordinary course of business.

The directors are of the opinion that the transactions
with other state-controlled entities are not significant
to the Group’s operations.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management during the
year represented remuneration paid to directors as
disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined by the Remuneration Committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. KRR BRI KRR G#iE

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2015 2014
—E—AE — P F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment Y- WE REE 450 671
Interests in subsidiaries B ARz 468,852 429,453
469,302 430,124

Current assets MENEE
Inventories GE - 143
Trade and other receivables ”%&Eﬁiﬂf”ﬁl 57,696 78,292
Amount due from a subsidiary e W B A 16,971 15,389
Taxation receivable UL B 1B 30 399
Pledged bank deposits B MIRITFER 2,356 2,356
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR MRS 6,252 919
83,305 97,498

Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables g5 N3 Jﬂlfﬁ 17,256 6,416
Amounts due to subsidiaries JFE A BT B 2 B3k 105,067 87,370
Bank borrowings RITIEE 18,452 4,330
Bank overdraft RITEX - 14,307
140,775 112,423
Net current liabilities FMEEE (57,470) (14,925)
Total assets less current liabilities MEERLSEE 411,832 415,199
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z—F—AF+_-HA=4+—HIFFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. KRB EMRARRFHE (Z)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Capital and reserves IR % 4
Share capital fi% 2 333,161 333,161
Reserves & 71,815 71,567
Total equity R 404,976 404,728
Non-current liability FnBaE
Bank borrowings RITIEE 6,856 10,471
6,856 10,471
411,832 415,199

The statement of financial position of the Company ARQBIZHEHRECEEETEN T~ F=
was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of A -+ - B AW KETZ IR TIEER
Directors on 22 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf &K% :

by:

LI YING HONG XIONG ZHENG FENG
FHRAL REIE I
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE—-F—AF+=-A=1+—HILFZE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. AR BB RN GEE (E2)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

Movement in the Company’s reserves KATREEE S
Share
Share options Retained
premium reserves profits Total
BROEER BRERE REEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET TET FET
At 1 January 2014 R-Z-—mE—f—H 57,412 1,270 73,074 131,756
Loss for the year and total FHRNBERFAZE
comprehensive expense 7 18 3R
for the year - - (1,507) (1,507)
Exercise of share option 1T B AR - (1,270) - (1,270)
Transfer upon abolition of WRIEHT A AHERI
par value under new JEE o TED 1R PR 0
Companies Ordinance (57,412) - - (57,412)
At 31 December 2014 RZE—NF
+ZA=+—H - - 71,567 71,567
Profit for the year and FENEMNR
total comprehensive income  FRZHE WA EEE
for the year - - 248 248
At 31 December 2015 R-ZZE—I1F
+=-A=+—8H - - 71,815 71,815
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Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t—-HLEE
RESULTS 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
E “E-1E —E-UF —T—=F —T——-F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT FHET FAT FAET
Revenue WA 630,631 622,057 641,159 600,686 415,372
Cost of sales HERA (551,392)  (515,433)  (552,804)  (507,521)  (360,656)
Gross profit e 79,239 106,624 88,355 93,165 54,716
Other income Hb A 36,321 28,492 10,326 3,838 4,929
Distribution costs DR AR (16,360) (17,189) (12,048) (12,270) (13,261)
Administrative expenses THRX T (25,234) (31,225) (25,130) (27,643) (21,235)
Research and development 1% &
expenses (70,324) (51,261) (22,589) (12,648) (11,055)
Share of result of BHEERNRIZER
a joint venture - - - (3,301) (3,887)
Finance costs BMERA (3,598) (3,206) (5,406) (6,458) (5,844)
Profit before taxation bR %1 B & A 44 32,235 33,508 34,683 4,363
Taxation I8 (366) (2,272) (2,041) (2,146) (391)
(Loss) profit for the year REF (BE) &M (322) 29,963 31,467 32,537 3,972
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—-8
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
EEREE ZE-HF —E0mF =% —T——-F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FEL FET FET
Total assets BEE 831,541 807,150 655,027 563,943 513,453
Total liabilities BmaffE (336,353)  (286,131)  (372,184)  (320,216)  (303,009)
495,188 521,019 282,843 243,727 210,444
Equity attributable to RARHEE AEGRER
owners of the Company 491,969 517,226 279,420 241,502 207,118
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR 3,219 3,793 3,423 2,225 3,326
Total equity s 495,188 521,019 282,843 243,727 210,444
ZENEEERLT
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